Atmospheric System Research (ASR) Science and Program Plan

January 2010



Office of Science

Atmospheric System Research (ASR) Science and Program Plan

January 2010

Work supported by the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of Biological and Environmental Research

Executive Summary

Anthropogenic increases in atmospheric greenhouse gases, such as carbon dioxide, and in aerosol particulate matter are impacting the current climate and will continue to influence the future climate. Climate models must understand and represent the extent of these influences on the current climate, as well as the prospective influences of past, current, and future emissions on the future climate. Current climate models show a large spread in the values of projected climate parameters like surface temperature and precipitation, and this spread makes it difficult for policy makers to use such projections to develop national and international energy policy. The spread in climate model projections arises from two broad sources of uncertainty. First, scientists believe that anthropogenic *atmospheric aerosols* partially offset the global warming influence due to enhanced greenhouse gas concentrations, but because climate models are uncertain how to represent the complex aerosol lifecycle in the atmosphere, they are also uncertain about the impact of aerosols on climate. Second, *clouds* are a large source of uncertainty in climate models, particularly how clouds will respond to and interact with changes in atmospheric composition. Both aerosols and clouds influence *radiation and precipitation*, which together largely drive the global atmospheric circulation.

In order to improve the fidelity and predictive capability of global climate models, a better understanding of various fundamental aerosol and cloud life-cycle processes is required. Furthermore, this understanding must lead to more accurate model representations of these processes and their interactions with the radiative, dynamic, and thermodynamic properties of the atmosphere. To achieve these high-priority climate research objectives, modelers and observers must develop and apply comprehensive data sets to constrain and guide model development and evaluation.

The Department of Energy (DOE) is uniquely positioned to address these challenges. DOE has been an active participant in climate research for decades, as energy production is one of the largest sources of anthropogenic greenhouse gases and aerosols, and future energy production and policies will be dependent upon climate conditions. As such, DOE has the modeling and observational expertise to address the uncertainties in the atmospheric processes that currently hinder climate models. This plan describes a new observation-based DOE research program that will systematically improve the understanding and model representation of aerosol, cloud, and precipitation processes and properties.

The DOE Atmospheric System Research (ASR) program, which combines the capabilities of prior DOE observation-based programs, will advance process-level understanding of the key interactions among aerosols, clouds, precipitation, radiation, dynamics, and thermodynamics, with the ultimate goal of reducing the uncertainty in global and regional climate simulations and projections. To accomplish this goal, the ASR program will work to address the following process-related research objectives:

- Determine the properties of and interactions among aerosols, clouds, precipitation, and radiation that are most critical to understand in order to improve their representation in climate models.
- Ascertain the roles of atmospheric dynamics, thermodynamic structure, radiation, surface properties, and chemical and microphysical processes in the life cycles of aerosols and clouds, and develop and evaluate models of these processes.

• Identify and quantify processes along the aerosol-cloud-precipitation continuum that affect the radiative fluxes at the surface and top of the atmosphere and the radiative and latent heating rate profiles, and improve the ability to accurately model these processes.

As an observation-based research program, ASR will be tightly coupled with the Atmospheric Radiation Measurement (ARM) Climate Research Facility. The ARM Facility is a DOE national user facility with extensive long-term ground-based in situ and remote sensing observations that are supplemented with episodic airborne observations and laboratory studies. The fixed ARM sites are situated in climatically distinct locations to sample tropical, mid-latitude, and Arctic environments, and mobile facilities are used to sample other climatically important locations. ARM's observational capability has been greatly increased by the recent American Recovery and Reinvestment Act, allowing better observation of many of the processes along the aerosol-cloud-precipitation continuum. The automated, long-term ARM observations will uniquely facilitate the analysis of the various modes of variability such as diurnal, synoptic, and seasonal variation in the cloud and aerosol life cycles. ASR scientists will use the ARM observations and process-level models to improve process-level understanding by concentrating on the following approaches:

- Determine the essential characteristics of the coordinated laboratory and field measurements necessary to understand aerosol and cloud life cycles and aerosol-cloud-precipitation-radiation interactions (e.g., variables measured, measurement accuracy, sampling strategies).
- Develop research strategies to create the integrated data products necessary to improve the understanding of aerosol-cloud-precipitation-radiation interactions (e.g., retrieval development, uncertainty analysis, data product collocation, quality control).
- Utilize the integrated data products to develop, evaluate, and ultimately improve the parameterization of aerosol-cloud-precipitation-radiation processes in models over a range of scales (e.g., what data products are needed, what metrics are used to evaluate model improvement).
- Evaluate the tradeoff between the minimum level of model complexity and model accuracy required to represent the range of atmospheric conditions that determine climatically relevant aerosol and cloud properties and aerosol-cloud-precipitation-radiation interactions.

Combining ARM's observational capability with the ASR scientific expertise will result in a better understanding of atmospheric processes that comprise the cloud and aerosol life cycles, and the interactions among them, all of which are essential to improve the accuracy of climate models. Thus, ASR will support the development of national energy and climate policy by achieving improvements in the understanding and modeling of climate system components that have been identified as major sources of uncertainty in climate projections.

Acknowledgments

This document identifies research needs, gaps, opportunities, and challenges captured from numerous discussions at scientific workshops, ARM Research and Atmospheric Science working group meetings, and from the scientific literature. BER is grateful to the many scientists who have shared their knowledge and insights with special thanks to DD Turner, MD Shupe, A McComiskey, A Fridlind, RL McGraw, S Schwartz, W Wiscombe, S Ghan, J Gaffney, S Klein, R Ellingson, and A Del Genio.

Contents

Exec	cutive	e Sumn	nary	iii		
Ack	nowl	edgmer	nts	v		
1.0	Introduction					
	1.1	Histor	rical Background	2		
	1.2 Scientific Motivation			5		
	1.3 Programmatic Strategy					
2.0	Process Research			14		
	2.1	Aerosol Life Cycle				
		2.1.1	New Particle Formation	15		
		2.1.2	Aerosol Aging and Mixing State	16		
		2.1.3	Aerosol Direct Radiative Forcing	17		
		2.1.4	Natural vs. Anthropogenic Influences on Aerosol Properties			
	2.2	Cloud	Life Cycle			
		2.2.1	Dynamics	19		
		2.2.2	Microphysics			
		2.2.3	Radiation			
	2.3	Aeros	ol-Cloud-Precipitation Interactions			
		2.3.1	Cloud Particle Formation	23		
		2.3.2	Cloud Processing of Aerosol	24		
		2.3.3	Precipitation	24		
		2.3.4	Radiative Impacts	25		
3.0	Measurement and Process Modeling Research					
	3.1	Obser	Observational Methods and Tools			
		3.1.1	Aerosol Observations			
		3.1.2	Cloud Observations			
		3.1.3	Precipitation Observations			
		3.1.4	Radiation Observations			
		3.1.5	Dynamics and Thermodynamics Observations			
	3.2	Process Modeling Methods and Tools				
		3.2.1	Process Model Development			
		3.2.2	Model Evaluation			
4.0	Futu	re Dire	ections			
5.0	References					
App	Appendix A - ARM Instrumentation					
App	endix	а В - Ас	ccomplishments of the ARM and ASP Programs	B.1		

Figures

1	The locations of the fixed ARM Facility sites, the previous and current ARM Mobile Facility deployments, the short-term off-site ARM campaigns, and the ARM Aerial Facility and ASP aircraft experiments since 2003.	4
2	The solid lines are multi-GCM global averages of surface warming for various emission scenarios, shown as continuations of the 20 th century simulations	6
3	The components of the global mean energy budget of Earth for March 2000 to May 2004, in $W/m^2 \ldots$	8
4	The various scales of numerical models that are used in climate science research by ASR investigators. Modified from S. Krueger.	9
5	Atmospheric system depiction showing a subset of the atmospheric processes that must be understood and accurately represented in climate models	11
6	A strategy for improving the representation of cloud and aerosol properties and processes in climate models	35
7	The regional contribution to intermodel spread in global mean cloud radiative feedback using simulations from multiple GCMs	41

1.0 Introduction

Increases in the concentrations of atmospheric greenhouse gases and aerosol particulate matter that result from human activities, and in particular from energy production, are impacting current climate and may be expected to exert an even greater influence on future climate. These anthropogenic influences and the climate system response are well documented by recent reports from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC 2007a,b), the authoritative international body charged with reviewing the global understanding of climate and climate change. However, the large spread in projected future surface temperatures from current global climate models for any given assumed future anthropogenic emission scenario greatly limits the usefulness of these models in the development of the nation's and the world's energy policies.

One of the leading sources of uncertainty in global climate models is the radiative influence (forcing¹) of aerosols, which is believed to be offsetting a substantial fraction of the warming influence due to enhanced greenhouse gas concentrations. The sensitivity of the climate system response (feedback²) to this radiative forcing is another leading source of uncertainty, due in large part to unknown subsequent changes in the amount and properties of clouds that may augment or diminish the effects of the initial radiative forcing. Difficulties in representing forcings and feedbacks in global climate models translate into a large uncertainty in the ability to predict trends in the global mean surface temperature and other changes in climate that would result from a specified increase in the amount of atmospheric carbon dioxide.

Among the agencies of the U.S. Government working to understand the impacts of human activities on the Earth's climate and their implications on society, the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE), as the steward for U.S. energy policy, has long had principal responsibility for understanding how energy production may result in climate change and how climate change may impact energy production. DOE has been a key member of the multiagency U.S. Global Change Research Program (USGCRP) since its inception. During the past three decades, the Office of Biological and Environmental Research (BER) in the DOE Office of Science has sponsored programs that have focused on specific aspects of climate models to improve the understanding of processes that are represented in these models. These research programs have consisted mainly of long- and short-term observation-based field investigations, laboratory studies, numerical modeling efforts, and theoretical work. Together, these programs have contributed to major improvements in the representation of physical processes in climate models; however, these efforts have also demonstrated that much more work remains to be done in order to achieve the predictive capability of climate models that is needed for policy-making purposes.

The principal observation-based DOE programs examining atmospheric processes that must be understood and represented in climate models have been the Atmospheric Radiation Measurement Program (ARM Program), the Atmospheric Science Program (ASP), and the ARM Climate Research Facility (ARM Facility). The ARM Facility was established by BER to collect long-term ground-based and in situ data in several climatic regions around the world; it has now been designated a national user facility. Data from ARM sites are used to support a wide range of international atmospheric and climate

¹ "Radiative forcing" is a measure of the influence a factor has on altering the balance of incoming and outgoing radiant energy in the Earth-atmosphere system.

 $^{^{2}}$ A "feedback" is an interaction mechanism between processes in a system, where the result of a change in an initial process triggers changes in a second process, which in turn influences the initial process again.

research. The passage of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) in 2009 provided an opportunity for BER to dramatically expand the observational capabilities of the ARM Facility. These new observational tools, together with the instrumentation already in use (Appendix A), will allow better characterization and quantification of climatically important atmospheric processes. The enhanced ARM Facility instrumentation will provide data sets that allow for evaluation and improvement of various components of climate models that have previously been difficult to assess. To better utilize these new tools, BER has merged the ARM Program and ASP into a cohesive unified program called Atmospheric System Research (ASR). This document outlines the programmatic objectives of ASR and serves as the science plan for this program.

1.1 Historical Background

For the past two decades the ARM Program and ASP have been the two research programs within the BER's Climate and Environmental Science Division (CESD) charged with conducting research on atmospheric processes pertinent to climate and climate change. These programs have taken coordinated and complementary approaches to quantify the effects of clouds and aerosols on the atmosphere's radiation balance. Both programs have used laboratory studies, atmospheric measurements, and numerical modeling to examine processes that influence atmospheric radiative transfer in order to increase the fidelity of process representations in climate models. These programs have supported the development and use of models on various scales, with domains that span the range from box models (order of meters) to global, to evaluate and improve the ability to make climate projections for assumed emissions scenarios. Thus these programs have provided data sets needed for the development of climate models in the United States and internationally and have played a direct role in these model development activities. The objectives, approaches, and key accomplishments of the two programs are briefly presented here; examples of recent research findings of the two programs are presented in Appendix B.

The ARM Program, which was begun in 1990, has greatly advanced the treatment of cloud and radiative processes in climate models (Ackerman and Stokes 2003). The original programmatic objectives of ARM (Stokes and Schwartz 1994) were to:

- 1. Relate observed radiative fluxes and radiances in the atmosphere, spectrally resolved and as a function of position and time, to the temperature and composition of the atmosphere, specifically including water vapor and clouds, and to surface properties, and to sample a sufficient variety of situations as to span a wide range of climatologically relevant possibilities.
- 2. Develop and test parameterizations that can be used to accurately model radiative influences of water vapor and clouds, with the objective of incorporating these parameterizations into global climate models (GCMs).

To address these goals, the ARM Program was initiated to gather long-term, collocated, ground-based data sets on radiation, clouds, and atmospheric state. During the early years of the program, ARM focused on site development and, in particular, the development of advanced instrumentation that could be operated autonomously and over long time periods at the ARM Facility sites. The program fostered the successful transition of several instruments that were previously manually intensive into truly operational instruments; these instruments include state-of-the-art sensors such as millimeter-wavelength cloud radars, high spectral resolution infrared Fourier transform spectrometers, micropulse cloud lidars, and water vapor Raman lidars. These advanced sensors, together with more traditional observing tools

such as multiple radiosonde ascents per day, passive microwave radiometers, broadband hemispheric radiometers, surface meteorological observations, and sky imagers, are the core observational tools at each ARM Facility site.

To collect data across a wide range of conditions, the ARM Program established fixed sites in locales characteristic of different climatic regimes (DOE 1991). These sites (Figure 1) are in the mid-latitudes (the extensive Southern Great Plains site in Oklahoma, established in 1992), the Arctic (the North Slope of Alaska site in Barrow, Alaska, established in 1997), and in the tropical Pacific Ocean (the three Tropical Western Pacific sites established in Manus, Papua New Guinea in 1996; on Nauru Island in 1998; and in Darwin, Australia in 2002). To sample additional climatic regimes, the program developed the ARM Mobile Facility (AMF), which became operational in 2005 and which has been deployed in several campaigns. A second mobile facility, currently under construction, will become operational in 2010. In addition to the fixed sites and the mobile facility, the ARM Facility also maintains an airborne facility for in situ sampling of clouds, aerosols, and radiation. In 2004, DOE declared the ARM observational sites to be the ARM Climate Research Facility, making the ARM Facility a formal national user facility. ARM provides support to the scientific community through experiments funded via peerreviewed proposals.

The development of the ARM Facility's observational tools, especially the automation of advanced ground-based remote sensors, is a significant accomplishment of the ARM Program. Using these tools, the ARM Program has made considerable progress towards its original programmatic objectives. Key accomplishments are improvement in the accuracy of longwave and shortwave radiative transfer models (now better than 1% under clear sky conditions), the compilation of detailed vertically resolved cloud climatologies at several sites, marked improvement in retrieving cloud properties from active and passive remote sensors, important advances in measuring the radiative impact of various types of clouds both at the surface and within the atmosphere, the first ground-based quantified observations to drive single-column and cloud resolving models, and numerous advances into understanding the microphysical processes in liquid, ice, and mixed-phase clouds. Some scientific highlights from the ARM Program over the previous five years are presented in Appendix B.

DOE has a long history of atmospheric chemistry and aerosols research. The ASP and its predecessor programs contributed to a better understanding of gas-phase oxidation chemistry that is vital to understanding secondary organic aerosol formation and particle aging, which are processes that continue to be important avenues of research today. Additionally, DOE focused effort on understanding aqueous-phase chemical processes within cloud droplets and wet removal processes, which are mechanisms important to aerosol processing by clouds, and dry deposition and resuspension of aerosol particles pertinent to the amount and properties of atmospheric aerosols.



Figure 1. The locations of the fixed ARM Facility sites, the previous and current ARM Mobile Facility (AMF) deployments, the short-term off-site ARM campaigns (OSC), and the ARM Aerial Facility (AAF) and ASP aircraft experiments since 2003.

Recognizing the outstanding uncertainties in the climate impacts of atmospheric aerosols, DOE reconfigured the ASP in 2004 to concentrate primarily on these aerosols and their climate influence (BERAC 2004). In particular, the ASP focused on the processes that govern the properties of natural and anthropogenic atmospheric aerosols that most influence climate and climate change: the amount, spatial distribution, composition, size distribution, optical properties, and cloud nucleating properties. ASP research objectives were to improve understanding and models for:

- 1. Aerosol life cycle, especially new particle formation, growth, and secondary aerosol formation (especially secondary organic aerosol), and including the effects of primary particle emissions, precursor gases, and cloud processing; the influence of these processes on amount- and size-distributed composition of aerosols; and the modification of aerosol amount and properties by anthropogenic emissions.
- 2. Aerosol optical properties, their dependence on relative humidity, and the relation to size-distributed composition.
- 3. Aerosol cloud nucleating properties, including the influences of aerosols on cloud microphysical properties.

A major element of ASP research consisted of field measurements of the climate-relevant processes and properties of different aerosol types. Field campaigns are the key to both quantifying aerosol properties and atmospheric processes under a variety of locations and atmospheric conditions and testing and improving the accuracy of models.

Like ARM, ASP supported an instrument development component. This activity achieved major advances in particle size and composition measurement through single-particle mass spectroscopy, pioneering instrumentation for the detection and composition analysis of particles having diameter less than 3 nm, thereby nearly bridging the gap between molecular cluster precursors and freshly nucleated aerosol particles, and fast-response instrumentation for rapid measurement of aerosol size distributions and selected gaseous precursors to achieve good spatial resolution during aircraft sampling. These techniques have been deployed in the field to great advantage. Recent field campaigns have provided in situ measurements of cloud drop number and size distribution in marine stratocumulus clouds, which in conjunction with gust-probe measurements of vertical velocity, are proving to be invaluable for testing theories and parameterizations of cloud droplet and drizzle formation.

In addition to field measurements ASP research encompasses laboratory studies of reactions of aerosol precursor gases and of interactions between aerosol particles and reactive gases, laboratory measurements of aerosol optical properties, process-level modeling, and regional modeling in support of the field campaigns. Some key highlights that have resulted from this work over the past five years are presented in Appendix B.

The ARM Program and ASP were both observation-based programs and had several common interests in certain atmospheric processes (e.g., aerosol-cloud interactions) and related goals (e.g., improving process representation in global climate models), but the research approaches of the two programs emphasized different measurement scales. ARM science studies have been based mainly on the long-term observational record from the heavily instrumented ARM Facility fixed sites and the ARM Mobile Facility, supplemented with periodic intensive field campaigns at these sites. In contrast ASP research has made extensive use of controlled laboratory experiments to study key atmospheric processes, especially those involving chemical reactions or composition-dependent aerosol properties, and extended the studies of these processes into the atmospheric environment using in situ measurements in intensive short-term field campaigns. In the past several years, the two programs have coordinated several joint field campaigns, typically at ARM Facility sites, thereby combining the distinct measurement scales, methodologies, and expertise available within the two programs to yield complementary data on the same processes, which has led to new insights and understanding.

The new ASR program will continue to rely heavily on measurements from the ARM Facility. Through funds provided under the America's Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, the ARM Facility is acquiring extensive new measurement capabilities, including scanning cloud radars, precipitation radars, additional aerosol observations, flux measurements for its surface sites, and enhanced aerosol and cloud measurement instrumentation for its aerial facility (See Appendix A for more details). These new capabilities will allow the combined program to extend its research horizon, especially in cloud dynamics and precipitation studies, and work towards the integrated vision described in the following sections.

1.2 Scientific Motivation

The primary objective of climate research in the United States and internationally is to develop understanding of the processes that control climate change and to represent this understanding in models, specifically general circulation models (GCMs), which are often referred to as global climate models. GCMs are detailed models that aim to represent the full range of climatically relevant physical processes within the atmosphere and the oceans. These models are the most powerful tools available to study the climate impacts of alternative future emission scenarios. However, there is substantial divergence at present among state-of-the-art models in their sensitivities (i.e., the amount by which global mean temperature changes for a given change in atmospheric composition) that limits the confidence that can be placed in projections of future climate change obtained with these models.

The latest assessment report by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC 2007 a,b) has shown that despite the ability of multiple GCMs to accurately reproduce the increase in global temperature over the twentieth century, there is considerable uncertainty in the predictive capabilities of GCMs. This is evidenced by the large differences of global mean surface temperature as projected by multiple models for each of several assumed future emission scenarios (Figure 2). The spread among the models can be attributed, in large part, to uncertainties in how changes in cloud amount and properties affect the global radiative budget and the vertical distribution of the radiant energy in the earth-atmosphere system. Reducing the uncertainties in GCM projections requires that the treatment of clouds, and their impact on the planetary energy budget, be substantially improved.



Figure 2. The solid lines are multi-GCM global averages of surface warming (relative to 1980-1999) for various emission scenarios, shown as continuations of the 20^{th} century simulations. The orange line is the experiment where carbon dioxide levels were held constant at year 2000 values. The shading around these solid lines represents the ±1 standard deviation of the individual model annual averages. The gray bars on the right indicate the best estimate (solid line) and likely range associated with the various scenarios. These gray error bars include both the spread of the mean results from different GCMs, the uncertainties within each GCM that was used in the simulation, and results from a hierarchy of independent models and observational constraints. Modified from IPCC (2007a).

Earth's energy budget, illustrated schematically in Figure 3, is complex and is controlled by a variety of processes that the ASR program will examine. Incoming solar energy is absorbed in the atmosphere by water vapor, clouds, and (to a much lesser extent) aerosols; absorbed by the Earth's surface; and reflected back to space. Infrared energy is emitted by the Earth's surface. This thermal infrared (or longwave)

radiation is largely absorbed by various components in the atmosphere (clouds, water vapor, and trace infrared active greenhouse gases, such as carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide, chlorofluorocarbons, and ozone); these substances in turn emit longwave radiation both back towards the Earth, contributing to the energy taken up at the surface, and upward to space. The infrared radiative flux emitted into space is substantially less than that emitted at the surface due to the lower temperature in the atmosphere as compared to the surface temperature, which is the essential manifestation of the greenhouse effect. On the global and annual average, to a very good approximation, the outgoing infrared energy balances the absorbed incoming solar energy. However, numerous processes modulate the flow of shortwave and longwave radiative energy through the climate system. Clouds, which are highly variable in altitude, space, and time, exert a major influence on radiative fluxes by scattering and absorbing solar and infrared radiant energy. The impact of clouds on the radiative field depends on both the macrophysical (e.g., height, extent) and microphysical (e.g., phase, cloud particle size) properties of the clouds. Aerosols play a secondary but important role in radiative energy distribution by both scattering and absorbing shortwave radiation, and, very importantly, by influencing cloud macrophysical and microphysical properties.

The overall radiative impact of aerosols, both directly and indirectly, depends on the amount of aerosol and its chemical and microphysical properties, and on environmental conditions (e.g., relative humidity and amount of sunlight, reflectivity of underlying surface or clouds). All of these processes and their effects on radiation and the thermodynamic environment must be understood and represented in climate models. The several fluxes shown in Figure 3 are highly variable in space and time, and even in global and annual average are much more uncertain than indicated by the precision of the numerical values given in the figure; understanding the controlling processes and representing them in models to reduce the uncertainties in these quantities is a major objective of the research conducted by the ASR program.

Figure 3 presents the context in which the influences of increases in concentrations of greenhouse gases and aerosols over the industrial period and prospective future increases must be considered. Increases in greenhouse gas concentrations over the industrial period have contributed about 3 ± 0.5 W/m² to the approximately 333 W/m² of back radiation shown in Figure 3, or about 1% of the natural greenhouse effect; this is the primary cause of anthropogenic climate change. Anthropogenic aerosols are estimated to contribute about 1.5 ± 1.0 W/m² to the reflected solar radiation, again about 1% of the total. This enhancement of reflected solar radiation tends to offset the warming influence of incremental greenhouse gases. Understanding and quantifying these perturbations in Earth's radiation budget over the industrial period and the climate response to these perturbations is the challenge that faces the climate research community, including ASR.

Uncertainties in GCM projections of the increase in global mean temperature for a prescribed increase in carbon dioxide (which contribute to the gray error bars on the right side of Figure 2) are quite large, and have not appreciably changed from values derived two decades ago. The main factor contributing to this model uncertainty is the impact of clouds and in particular how clouds will evolve and further impact the energy budget in a changing climate (i.e., cloud feedbacks on the model climate). These processes are not well understood, and it has been recognized since the late 1980s that the equilibrium sensitivity of climate models (the change in global temperature that would result from a given sustained radiative perturbation) is highly sensitive to alternative treatments of cloud processes (Cess et al. 1989). It is this situation that motivated the formation of the ARM Program in 1990. The formation of clouds is determined by air motions at many scales, from local to the general circulation. Clouds, through surface and atmospheric radiative heating and through latent heating associated with precipitation, influence the ambient environment and the atmospheric motion on a variety of scales. Thus, atmospheric motions and clouds

are intimately coupled. Furthermore inhomogeneities in the atmosphere (e.g., water vapor, vertical velocity) and aerosol properties impact the clouds in important ways and can influence cloud evolution, leading to potentially important impacts on atmospheric motion.



Figure 3. The components of the global mean energy budget of Earth for March 2000 to May 2004, in W/m^2 (Trenberth et al. 2009). The broad arrows indicate the schematic flow of energy in proportion to their magnitude. Several of these fluxes are not as well known as indicated by the precision of the numerical values presented. The net energy imbalance of 0.9 W/m^{-2} is not considered well established from either satellite measurements or assessments of the increased planetary heat content.

Precipitation plays a very important role in both the energy and hydrological cycles of the atmosphere. The energy balance of the global atmosphere is a balance between the net radiative cooling of the atmosphere and the latent heating of the atmosphere associated with precipitation. Cloud feedbacks in climate model simulations not only affect the radiative heating of the atmosphere, but also determine the response of the hydrological cycle to a changing climate. Furthermore, changes in precipitation location and amount, as part of a changing climate, have the potential to impact future human activities in many areas. The influence of the change in anthropogenic aerosol concentration on precipitation is a significant uncertainty that needs to be better understood (e.g., Khain 2009). Improving the representation of precipitation in numerical models is a high priority, and it is a challenging task because many different processes can affect the onset, intensity, and duration of precipitation, including cloud and aerosol microphysical processes, dynamical processes, and thermodynamic state. The ASR program will use the new ARM Facility observational tools to characterize and quantify these processes so that they can be better represented in numerical models.

The atmospheric processes that govern the interaction of aerosol, clouds, and precipitation within the radiative, thermodynamic, and dynamical environment occur on a range of time and space scales. Thus, models with different characteristic scales (Figure 4) are used to study these processes. The processes

that initially determine cloud properties occur on scales that can be fully resolved only by fine-scale models. Fine-scale models are an important component used to help construct "parameterizations" (e.g., simplified representations of the fine-scale processes) that can be implemented in coarser-scale models. The evolution of physical processes, both in fine-scale and in larger-scale models, is complex and intertwined, and improving GCM predictive capability requires that both fine-scale and coarse-scale models be evaluated with suitable observational data sets. ASR observations are uniquely suited to help improve and validate models at smaller scales, and thus provide confidence that the parameterizations built from these fine-scale models are more accurate representations of reality.

The observational data sets required to evaluate and improve the understanding and modeling of atmospheric processes must capture the relevant processes that are at work in the climate system, as well as the different modes of variability. For example, some atmospheric processes may be more important, from a relative point-of-view, in different climatic regimes. Thus, it is important to collect data sets in these different regimes in order to sample the wide range of climatic conditions that must be represented in GCMs; this has been the motivation for the placement of the fixed ARM Facility sites in different climatic regimes (DOE 1991) and drives the selection of the past and future deployments of the airborne and mobile facilities (Figure 1). At each of these locations, it is important to make observations that capture the primary modes of variability, such as the diurnal, synoptic, and seasonal cycles. The ARM Facility stresses the deployment of state-of-the-art sensors that are able to collect data autonomously 24 hours per day, every day, as well as the development of the analysis techniques to derive the needed geophysical variables from these raw instrument observations. The ARM Facility's continuous measurements, especially when supplemented by targeted laboratory studies and periodic intensive observational periods that include airborne in situ observations, provide the foundation for the processstudy research that is needed to advance the capabilities and accuracy of models at a variety of scales up to and including GCMs (Fast et al. 2009).



Figure 4. The various scales of numerical models that are used in climate science research by ASR investigators. Modified from S. Krueger.

1.3 Programmatic Strategy

Mission and Objectives

The goal of ASR, in partnership with the enhanced ARM Facility, is to quantify the interactions among aerosols, clouds, precipitation, radiation, dynamics, and thermodynamics to improve fundamental process-level understanding, with the ultimate goal to reduce the uncertainty in global and regional climate simulations and projections. To accomplish this goal, the ASR program and the ARM Facility will:

- Maintain and augment the collection of comprehensive and continuous long-term data sets that provide measurements of radiation, aerosols, clouds, precipitation, dynamics, and thermodynamics over a range of environmental conditions at several fixed and mobile sites situated in climatically diverse locations.
- Supplement the long-term data sets with laboratory studies and shorter-duration field campaigns, both ground-based and airborne, to target specific atmospheric processes under a diversity of locations and atmospheric conditions.
- Use these data, together with models, to understand and parameterize the processes that govern the atmospheric components and their interactions over all pertinent scales.
- Develop integrated, scale-bridging testbeds for model parameterizations that incorporate this processlevel understanding of the life cycles of aerosols, clouds, and precipitation in numerical models.

A tight coupling of the enhanced ARM Facility and ASR program will allow the atmospheric system to be better observed and understood in a comprehensive, end-to-end fashion. The new ASR program is designed in recognition of the system as an aerosol-cloud-precipitation continuum operating within a microphysical and macrophysical environment characterized by radiation, dynamics (including meteorology), and thermodynamics. That continuum stretches seamlessly across scales from gases and primary particles emitted to the atmosphere, through evolving aerosol populations, to the clouds that form on aerosol particles, and the cloud systems that produce precipitation to complete the hydrologic cycle. The defining objective of the ASR program is a detailed, process-level understanding of this system that leads to improved simulations by climate models.

The aerosol-cloud-precipitation continuum, its role in the climate system, and the related processes that ASR aims to understand, are depicted in Figure 5. This figure is meant to illustrate many climate system properties and processes that pose difficulties to climate models and comprise the core focus of ASR research objectives; it is not meant to be comprehensive. Fundamental to the system are the life cycles of aerosols and clouds, and the interactions among aerosols, clouds, and precipitation. The term "life cycle" denotes the set of processes, indicated schematically in Figure 5, that govern the properties of atmospheric aerosols or clouds over time and that influence aerosol-cloud-precipitation interactions.



Figure 5. Atmospheric system depiction showing a subset of the atmospheric processes that must be understood and accurately represented in climate models. This figure schematically displays overarching themes (in all capital letters) and a representative, but not exhaustive, set of subsidiary processes that will be studied by the ASR program.

Aerosols are introduced into the atmosphere through numerous natural and anthropogenic pathways that fall into two general categories: direct emissions (e.g., soot, biomass burning smoke, and wind-blown dust) and new particle formation from anthropogenic and biogenic gas-phase precursor compounds (e.g. sulfur dioxide from power plants and naturally-emitted hydrocarbons from forested regions). Once present in the atmosphere, aerosol particles grow via reactive and non-reactive condensation of ambient gases and through coagulation, enhancing their optical properties and ability to serve as condensation sites for cloud droplet and ice particle formation. Although some aerosol particles in the size range affecting atmospheric radiation and cloud microphysical properties undergo interaction with clouds and are ultimately removed from the atmosphere by precipitation.

The life cycle of a cloud begins when dynamic conditions generate a relative humidity in excess of the saturation vapor pressure required for the formation of cloud droplets or ice particles. Depending upon environmental conditions (e.g., temperature, dynamical state, and aerosol properties), cloud condensate forms as liquid droplets or ice crystals in a variety of shapes. The properties of the aerosols that serve as

seed particles for cloud formation play a central role in determining the cloud microphysical properties, specifically the number concentration, size, and phase. Microphysical processes, such as vapor deposition and particle collisions, which transfer water among the gas, liquid, and solid phases, lead to hydrometeor growth that can further influence cloud microphysical properties. Hydrometeor fall speed, which is dependent upon microphysical properties, is an important link in this cycle that controls cloud lifetime. The fate of clouds is governed largely by dynamical conditions, ranging from entrainment of drier air that leads to complete evaporation of small fair weather cumulus clouds to the self-perpetuating formation of storm cloud systems, which produce large hydrometeors that precipitate to the surface and extensive anvils that may dissipate over long periods of time. Throughout their life cycles, clouds exert a strong influence on the radiative fluxes at the surface, within the atmosphere, and at the top of the atmosphere.

At the confluence of these cycles, aerosol and cloud processes couple to give rise to the important but highly uncertain indirect effects that aerosols have on climate through their ability to modify cloud and precipitation properties. For example, a greater number of condensation nuclei leads to a higher concentration of smaller cloud droplets which, all other things being equal, results in a brighter cloud and one less likely to produce precipitation. This type of aerosol influence on cloud microphysical properties has profound impacts on radiative transfer, precipitation efficiency, and cloud lifetime. In a complementary fashion, clouds act to process aerosol particles; droplets can serve as sites for chemical reaction (e.g., oxidation of sulfur dioxide to sulfate) and as an important aerosol sink via particle removal through precipitation. Clouds are also the principal transporter of aerosols and aerosol precursor gases from the surface, where they are concentrated near local emissions sources, to elevations high in the troposphere, where winds transport them globally.

Diurnal, synoptic, and seasonal variability are manifested in many aerosol, cloud, and precipitation processes. These range from the daily heating and cooling of land surface, which influence cloud formation, to sunlight-driven photochemical reactions that are often a key step in aerosol formation. The latitudinal variation of these processes is also important, stretching from the steady diurnal cycle and minimal seasonal cycle in the tropics, to the continually varying diurnal cycle and strong seasonal cycle at high latitudes. A thorough understanding of how aerosol-cloud-precipitation processes respond and vary throughout these cycles is critical to resolving uncertainties in their impact on the climate system. ASR's use of the ARM Facility's long-term, automated observational capability will allow these important modes of variability to be investigated and understood.

Radiation and precipitation accumulation reveal the overall impact of the aerosol-cloud-precipitation continuum on the climate system. Both clouds and aerosols play key roles in atmospheric radiation through absorption, emission, and reflection of radiant energy in the shortwave (solar) and longwave (thermal infrared) spectral regions. Clouds and aerosol reflect nearly 80% of solar radiation that is reflected back to space. Atmospheric radiation absorbed by the surface drives surface temperatures and the freezing or melting of ice sheets, sea-ice, and glaciers. Radiation plays a role in defining atmospheric stability through differential heating, which impacts cloud formation and large-scale circulation. Global distributions of precipitation profoundly impact humanity and ecology by shaping the hydrologic and carbon cycles. Likewise, diabatic heating associated with precipitation formation is a major component of the global energy system (represented in Figure 4 by the latent heat component). Thus, with so many prominent roles in global climate, it is clear that even small uncertainties in modeling the aerosol-cloud-precipitation continuum can have a dramatic impact on simulated climate. In order to improve model skill in predicting the Earth's radiant energy and hydrologic cycles, it is therefore imperative to

understand and specify the controlling processes, which are closely tied to the vertically- and horizontally-resolved distribution of aerosols, clouds, and water vapor. Thus, accurately simulating the radiative field and precipitation in models is a necessary (albeit not sufficient) condition for demonstrating that processes associated with the cloud and aerosol life cycles, and the interaction between them, are properly represented in numerical models.

The ASR program will address the uncertainties in modeling the various processes in the aerosol-cloudprecipitation continuum. ASR's strategy towards characterizing this continuum in order to improve climate simulations is based upon a well-conceived suite of state-of-the-art instrumentation, measurement techniques, and experiments that are designed to observe fundamental aspects of the climate system at a variety of key locations. These observations target time scales ranging from rapid processes, through the diurnal evolution of the system, to seasonal and interannual variability of climatic conditions. Synergetic, multi-instrument methods are used to derive a comprehensive set of geophysical parameters that inform our process-level understanding, thereby providing the foundation for model development. Detailed process models are used to test and verify our physical understanding and, in turn, are essential for translating the results from local measurements to the much larger scales of climate models. Lastly, climate model simulations are evaluated against measurements and derived geophysical properties to confirm that the strategy has accomplished a reduction of model uncertainty, which is essential if the models are to accurately represent climate responses to putative future changes in atmospheric composition. Such a strategy is made possible by the timely blending of ARM and ASP resources, which originally focused on distinct portions of the atmospheric process continuum, and the addition of new ARM Facility instrumentation through ARRA.

2.0 Process Research

The climate research community is increasingly recognizing the tight coupling of clouds, aerosols, precipitation, radiation, thermodynamics, and dynamics as a single system that is interwoven with myriad linking processes. As a consequence, it is imperative to study these components of the climate system as a continuum, rather than as isolated elements. For this reason ASR will make the observations and perform the analyses necessary to develop, evaluate, and improve model parameterizations of this system. The ultimate objective is to leverage these activities towards increasing the accuracy of representations of aerosols, clouds, precipitation, and radiation in climate simulations. With the formation of the new ASR program, there is a remarkable convergence of long-term measurements, new instruments, and new approaches that will be harnessed to advance the observation and modeling of key atmospheric processes. Using these resources, scientific research conducted by the ASR program will target the overlap of (1) climate system processes and properties of the aerosol-cloud-precipitation continuum that are poorly represented in GCMs and (2) climate system processes and properties that are best observed using the ARM Facility ground, aircraft, and laboratory facilities, as well as those facilities of collaborating programs.

The primary research objectives for the new ASR program are presented in this section, grouped according to the themes of *aerosol life cycle*, *cloud life cycle*, and *aerosol-cloud-precipitation interactions*. In addition to fulfilling these objectives, research within the program will reach beyond these topics when required in order to include aspects of the natural environment that influence aerosol and cloud processes and couple them to the broader global climate system. To successfully understand and model the important processes comprising the aerosol-cloud-precipitation continuum, ASR will study and understand cross-cutting variables and processes, of which the most important are atmospheric thermodynamic profiles, surface turbulent heat fluxes, radiative transfer, and surface albedo, as well as how these variables and processes respond to diurnal, synoptic, and seasonal variability.

The ASR program's process-related research objectives:

- Determine the properties of, and interactions among, aerosols, clouds, precipitation, and radiation that are most critical to understand in order to improve their representation in climate models.
- Ascertain the roles of atmospheric dynamics, thermodynamic structure, radiation, surface properties, and chemical and microphysical processes in the life cycles of aerosols and clouds, and develop and evaluate models of these processes.
- Identify and quantify processes along the aerosol-cloud-precipitation continuum that affect the radiative fluxes at the surface and top of the atmosphere and the radiative and latent heating rate profiles, and improve the ability to accurately model these processes.

2.1 Aerosol Life Cycle

Aerosol particles exert important influences on climate and climate change by scattering and absorbing solar radiation and by influencing the properties of clouds. The aerosol life cycle determines the spatial and temporal distribution of atmospheric particles and their chemical, microphysical, and optical properties. The objective of aerosol life cycle research in ASR is to improve understanding of the roles of aerosols in the climate system and specifically to decrease uncertainty in radiative forcing by aerosols. The processes associated with the life cycle of aerosols must be understood and represented in climate models, first, to represent the unperturbed climate with sufficient fidelity to obtain an accurate modelbased determination of the sensitivity of climate to radiative perturbations locally and globally, and second, to determine the radiative forcing of aerosols, i.e., the changes in radiative budget at Earth's surface and at the top of the atmosphere due to perturbations in the amount and nature of aerosols. Current aerosol models need improvement in several areas: emissions; mechanisms, and rates of new particle formation and their dependence on controlling variables, growth, and aging; distinguishing natural and anthropogenic influences; and computational efficiency of model representation. In addition, the models need to be systematically evaluated to determine the cause of differences between simulated and observed aerosol properties. The research that will be conducted by ASR to achieve these objectives is usefully distinguished into four topical areas or elements: new particle formation, aerosol growth and aging, the direct radiative impacts of aerosol, and separating the natural vs. anthropogenic aerosol influences on aerosol properties.

2.1.1 New Particle Formation

Besides primary emissions of primary aerosol particles, another important source of atmospheric aerosols is the *chemical conversion of gas-phase atmospheric precursors* to new particles through nucleation and growth. Freshly nucleated particles are approximately a nanometer in size and thus are too small to directly influence climate. But these particles can quickly grow, even over the course of a single day, to reach the size where they can serve as cloud condensation nuclei (CCN) or appreciably scatter light. Understanding the molecular processes leading to the nucleation and growth of new particles is a current objective of field observations, laboratory measurements, and theoretical study. The field observations show that boundary layer nucleation rates can be orders of magnitude higher than were calculated by early models and suggest that other atmospheric trace species, besides water and sulfuric acid, which were already included in the early models, contribute to these high rates. Candidate tropospheric precursors include ammonia, amines, and organic acids, which have been shown in laboratory and theoretical studies to act in concert with sulfuric acid-water through ternary nucleation mechanisms to enhance nucleation rates. To improve understanding of new particle formation and its dependence on precursor gases and existing aerosol, field studies combining measurements of the size and composition of molecular clusters and small particles with measurements of concentrations of key precursor gases will be useful, as well as laboratory studies that systematically examine dependence of new particle formation rates on specific trace gases.

A strong coupling between nucleation and growth rates of nucleated particles further contributes to the climate importance of new particle formation. *Growth rates of nucleated particles* are commonly five to twenty times higher than can be explained by the condensation of sulfuric acid vapor alone, and these high rates enhance the probability that nucleated particles grow to sizes that are large enough to serve as CCN. Recent work has shown that the fast growth rates are due largely to the uptake of oxygen- and

nitrogen-containing organic compounds. Future work on new particle formation will focus on developing models for the mechanisms by which organic compounds enhance nucleation and growth. Additional importance derives from the fact that reliable growth models are also needed to solve the outstanding problem of explaining observed amounts of secondary organic aerosol formation. Laboratory and field measurements are needed to develop empirical models of new particle formation and growth for immediate use in models and to test new theoretical models that explain the measured dependence of new particle formation rates on atmospheric gas-phase precursor and background aerosol concentrations.

2.1.2 Aerosol Aging and Mixing State

Aging of aerosols consists of modification of the composition, size, and surface properties of aerosol particles in the atmosphere by coagulation, condensation, and surface reactions. The concept of aging is also sometimes used to refer to the mixing of aerosols from different sources to form more complex external mixtures. These processes are important as they affect the optical and cloud nucleating properties of the aerosol. Consequently these processes must be understood and represented in models. ASR will examine these processes in field studies and in laboratory experiments that are informed by the field measurements to develop process models that can represent these phenomena in large-scale aerosol chemical transport models and ultimately in climate models.

Measurements downwind of urban sources of aerosol particles and precursor gases have shown that the mass concentration of *secondary organic aerosol* (SOA) can be several-fold greater than can be explained on the basis of current model calculations using observed precursor concentrations. ASR will continue conducting laboratory experiments on both gas-phase and aqueous-phase SOA formation to characterize the particle formation and the organic gases that react to form new organic aerosol material on aerosol seeds. The dependence of SOA formation on nitrogen oxides and other factors will be examined. ASR will use these experiments to guide the development of comprehensive chemical mechanisms, and then use improved understanding from the comprehensive mechanisms to guide the development of parameterizations that are simple enough to be applied to aerosol life cycle models. To test the models under real world conditions, a series of field studies is needed to improve understanding of the interactions between natural and anthropogenic SOA formation mechanisms.

Secondary aerosol formation can profoundly change the *optical and microphysical properties of particles* when the composition of the primary particle is very different from that of the secondary material. Of particular importance is the aging of black carbon particles due to both condensation of secondary material and coagulation with other particles. ASR will continue to conduct laboratory experiments and field measurements to characterize the influence of aging on the optical and microphysical properties of black carbon particles. Data from these studies can be used to test models of how the aging process affects the optical and microphysical properties of black carbon. SOA can also absorb both shortwave and longwave radiation and characterization of its optical properties and relative contributions from natural and anthropogenic sources are also currently areas of active ASR effort.

Aged aerosol often includes a composite of mixtures of particles of different compositions along with species condensed through condensation. These general *mixing states* poses challenges for a simple representation in aerosol life cycle models, as the mixing state and how aerosol ages under different conditions impact aerosol direct forcing and CCN concentration. Because it is not practical to track the size, shape and composition of every single particle in a global model, approximations must be

introduced. One approach to this challenge uses single particle measurements of size, shape and composition during laboratory experiments and field studies of aging to test both particle-resolved and simplified representations of the aerosol mixing state. The goal is to develop representations that are more flexible than current treatments, which assume all particles of the same size have the same composition, without resorting to tracking every particle. The figures of merit will be the ability of the representation to reproduce measurements of CCN concentration and aerosol optical properties. As climate models require great economy of aerosol representation it is advantageous to seek the minimum number of tracers required to meet this criterion.

2.1.3 Aerosol Direct Radiative Forcing

Scattering and absorption of solar radiation by aerosols (so-called aerosol direct radiative effects) modify the amount of incoming solar radiation taken up by Earth, and modify the vertical distribution of that absorption and the resultant heating profile of the atmosphere. Uncertainty in the scattering and absorption of radiation by aerosols in cloud-free air contributes substantially to the uncertainty associated with aerosol radiative forcing of climate change over the industrial period. This uncertainty is largely due to high frequency variability in aerosol optical properties in space and time and the lack of methods available to measure them at high resolution globally. Accurate representation of aerosol direct radiative forcing in climate models requires that aerosol optical properties be properly determined from the size distributed aerosol composition, a relationship that is presently not well understood.

Aerosol optical properties depend strongly on particle size, composition, and morphology. Furthermore, many aerosol constituents are hygroscopic, meaning that they readily uptake water; thus with increasing relative humidity the radii of the aerosol particles increase, resulting in a corresponding change in other aerosol properties, such as index of refraction that affects the scattering and absorption coefficients of the particle. Thus, direct aerosol forcing is strongly dependent on relative humidity. As the variability of aerosol properties with relative humidity is likely greater than any other quantity (such as temperature), quantifying and parameterizing the *dependence of aerosol properties on relative humidity* is the key to accurate representation of this process in models.

To assess and improve understanding and representation of aerosol effects on the Earth's energy balance, ASR will use both local and column *radiative closure* for long periods (months) at multiple locations. Local closure will compare the measured aerosol optical properties (absorption, extinction and asymmetry parameter) with model calculations given the measured relative humidity and the size-resolved shape and composition of the aerosol. Such a study will require advances in the ability to measure aerosol absorption, shape and composition for all particle sizes important for radiative closure. Column closure will use 3D surface-based remote sensing and in situ measurements from aircraft to characterize the clouds and aerosol above surface measurement sites, and then compare the measured radiative fluxes at the surface and top of atmosphere with those calculated by radiative transfer models.

Aerosols containing black (elemental) carbon and organic carbon that absorbs in the visible spectral region have a potentially large impact on climate by reducing the net solar radiative flux at the Earth's surface and by warming the air in their vicinity, where the latter can lead to cloud evaporation (referred to as the aerosol "semi-direct effect"). To date, quantifying these effects has proved difficult. Recent laboratory studies have examined the aging properties of black carbon aerosols whereby particles become encapsulated by coatings that can induce compaction, which decreases light scattering and absorption,

and lensing, which is an effect in which more light is focused by the coating thereby increasing the light absorption. Understanding this interplay between morphology and optical properties is necessary to quantify the contribution of *light absorbing carbon* to direct and semi-direct radiative forcing. Aging also affects the ability of black carbon aerosols to serve as cloud condensation nuclei through modification of their ability to become wetted and condense water. Examination of these phenomena will continue to be a focus of research in ASR laboratory experiments and field measurements.

2.1.4 Natural vs. Anthropogenic Influences on Aerosol Properties

The need to understand atmospheric aerosols and their influence on climate and climate change is driven by the requirements to (1) represent these influences in models of the present climate, thereby accurately simulating aerosol effects on clouds and radiation in the present climate; and (2) to represent the influences of changes in the amount and properties of aerosols (over the industrial period, or for prospective future emissions) on atmospheric radiation and cloud properties, in order to permit examination of past and prospective future climate change. For these reasons it is necessary to measure and model natural as well as anthropogenically influenced aerosols and to distinguish the climate influences of each. Measurements that distinguish natural and anthropogenic influences on aerosol properties are needed to determine the anthropogenic perturbation to radiative forcing. This, in turn, helps to unravel the extent to which anthropogenic aerosol perturbations, which tend toward cooling, mask the effects of greenhouse gas warming. Generally, both anthropogenic and natural processes contribute to the atmosphere aerosol, influencing the new particle formation, the role of anthropogenically enhanced levels of atmospheric oxidants in SOA formation from natural and more volatile organic emissions, and the oxidation reactions on aerosol surfaces and within cloud droplets that result in increases in aerosol mass and hygroscopicity. ASR research will examine the contributions of anthropogenic versus biogenic organic aerosol precursors and determine the chemical mechanisms responsible for the conversion of these compounds to increase aerosol number and mass and for new particle formation and aerosol dynamics. While most current climate models attempt to separate natural and anthropogenic aerosol influences, they tend to miss some important interactions. A promising approach is to distinguish natural and anthropogenic contributions to aerosol loading through tracer measurements (e.g., carbon isotopes) for model testing.

2.2 Cloud Life Cycle

Approximately 20% of the solar radiation incident on Earth is reflected back to space by clouds, thereby preventing absorption that would otherwise warm the surface. It is therefore not surprising that small uncertainties in the representation of cloud properties in GCM simulations (e.g., cloud cover, precipitation, structure, lifetime, or reflectivity) have the potential to induce large uncertainties in model computed surface temperatures and other important climate properties. Many of the uncertainties in GCMs stem from poor representation of cloud processes that operate at fine scales. Important examples are lateral and cloud-top entrainment and drizzle formation, which influence the reflectivity and persistence especially of marine stratocumulus clouds, a climatologically important cloud type, the representation of which has been identified as a major source of variation in sensitivity of GCMs (e.g., Bony and Dufresne 2005). ASR will study these and other cloud life cycle processes over the full range of relevant space and time scales. Specific cloud life cycle research areas are categorized into three broad areas: *dynamics*, the atmospheric motions that generally dominate cloud life cycles; *microphysics*, the properties of cloud droplets/ice particles and rain and snow hydrometeors and the processes that

determine these properties and their interactions; and *radiation*, the impacts of cloud amount and properties on absorption, emission, and transport of shortwave and longwave radiation in the atmosphere, at the surface, and at the top of the atmosphere. The important problems and processes that ASR will target related to each of these broad categories are outlined below.

2.2.1 Dynamics

Vertical air motions play a central role in cloud life cycles. Whereas emissions and nucleation lead to new aerosol particles, it is primarily atmospheric dynamical conditions in a sufficiently humid environment that lead to new cloud particles. To simulate cloud life cycles, models must adequately represent the strength and depth of updrafts and downdrafts. However, vertical velocity of cloudy air is difficult to measure, and modelers desire long-term measurements of vertical air velocity statistics to develop and evaluate cloud parameterizations. In response, ASR will pursue multiple research fronts towards better understanding vertical air velocity, its relation to buoyancy forces, and the associated dynamical-microphysical interactions. These concepts will be studied in all types of clouds including, but not limited to, shallow marine cumuli, Arctic stratocumulus, frontal clouds, orographically forced clouds, deep convective storm systems, and upper tropospheric cirrus. Two specific cases are discussed here as an example. The first addresses shallow circulations associated with small cumulus and stratocumulus clouds, which are typically driven by changes in atmospheric buoyancy as a result of surface turbulent energy fluxes and/or radiation. Important parameters in such clouds include vertical air velocity variability, the structure of turbulent motions, the skewness of the vertical air velocity distribution, and atmospheric stability profiles. ASR will use a multi-instrument and -platform approach to study the covariability of these dynamical parameters with the cloud microphysics in order to reveal the important linkages between boundary layer dynamics, radiation, cloud formation, and cloud composition, all of which are crucial to understanding the life cycle of these clouds. A second example of ASR research is focused at the other extreme of size, where organized deep convection associated with storms is characterized by large-scale structural organization that can be categorized into convective and stratiform fractions. In these cases, ASR will strive to understand how the updraft and downdraft properties, spatial extent, depth, and structural organization impact the amount of precipitation, the vertical distribution of condensate, and the microphysical composition of resulting cirrus.

Entrainment of environmental air into clouds is a key process that is poorly represented in GCMs. In convective clouds, the rate of entrainment of ambient air into convective updrafts directly affects the buoyancy of those updrafts and thus can strongly influence the vertical velocity and the depth of convective updrafts, thus controlling cloud vertical extent. Current entrainment parameterizations are empirical, as entrainment is a process that is difficult to directly observe. Entrainment rates are typically inferred using detailed measurements of environmental conditions and theoretical or model calculations to deduce the mixing that is required to explain them. Turbulence probes flown on research aircraft have provided some validation of underlying entrainment mechanisms; however, due to the complexity of the entrainment process and the difficulty in locating entrainment regions, samples are often small and/or inconclusive. Additional process-level observations, such as cloud-scale vertical velocity, are sorely needed to better constrain and improve entrainment parameterizations. Because the impact of entrainment on cloud buoyancy depends strongly on the humidity of the air entrained into a cloud, accurate retrievals of water vapor in the near-cloud environment are needed. In particular, ASR will focus on understanding entrainment processes in shallow and layered clouds, which have a relatively thin entrainment layer that can have large impacts on the cloud persistence and microphysical composition. In

addition, entrainment and detrainment processes in convective cloud systems will be studied to better understand convective strength, precipitation development, and the vertical transport and distribution of atmospheric moisture, particularly in the upper troposphere.

Convective initiation marks the beginning stage of the cloud life cycle where many specific processes converge. While vertical air motion and entrainment play fundamental roles, many other 3D phenomena affect development of clouds and storms, including lifting over topographic features, boundary layer and tropospheric thermodynamic structure, surface turbulent flux inhomogeneities (e.g., plumes of warm air rising from sunlit surfaces), and gust fronts and density currents associated with cloudy downdrafts. Due to this variety of structurally complex factors, incorporating convection initiation mechanisms into convective parameterization for weather forecast, regional, and global climate modeling is an extremely difficult, yet profoundly important, task. GCM-simulated precipitation frequency, intensity, and temporal variability are quite different from those observed and these can be traced to inadequate parameterization of convection triggering. From an observational perspective alone, it is very difficult to unravel the multiple effects on cloud evolution. ASR will strive to develop a unified understanding of the convergence of processes associated with triggering convection through the focused coordination of measurement and modeling efforts.

2.2.2 Microphysics

To truly understand cloud life cycles and the multifaceted way in which clouds interact with the climate system, it is imperative to characterize the *cloud particle size distributions*, which describe the number of particles of each type and size. Once dynamics are accounted for, it is the particle size distributions, and their interaction with radiative processes, that determine a cloud's evolution and fate. Accurate knowledge of the hydrometeor number, size, surface area, volume or mass, dispersion, skewness, and phase are required in order to understand basic cloud processes such as the microphysical evolution through competition for available water vapor, formation of precipitation-sized particles, sedimentation, and collisions among cloud particles. Two specific cases are outlined here as examples. First, the relative concentration of small ice crystals in the ice particle size distribution is unknown due to various observational limitations. However, it is extremely important to characterize the small crystal distribution as it can exert a potentially significant control on the radiative effects of ice clouds. Second, within mixed-phase clouds both liquid and ice size distributions exist within the same cloud system, interacting and coevolving through myriad, complex mechanisms. A clear accounting of both solid and liquid hydrometeors in these clouds is needed to determine their radiative effects, precipitation efficiency, and longevity. It is a primary goal of the ASR program to characterize the particle size distributions for all types of clouds in as broad a set of conditions as possible, including precipitating conditions, in order to adequately represent these size distributions and their evolution in cloud process models.

A full characterization of the ice particle size distribution is complicated by the variety of *ice crystal habits* present in the atmosphere. Whereas droplets are spherical and deviations of rain drops from sphericity are relatively well known, ice particles exist in a dizzying array of habits that influence fall speed, growth, and evaporation rates, as well as the efficiency of collision and coalescence. Modelers struggle to efficiently represent the evolution of ice habit. However, the range of size-distributed habit complexity that exists in the atmosphere and the most efficient means of adequately representing it in climate models remain unknown. The ASR program will accelerate progress towards understanding the

role of ice crystal habit by better characterizing ice habit distributions (e.g., habit identification, crystal population diversity as a function of size, and projected area) and elucidating the impact that habit has on microphysical and radiative processes of cloud ice.

Ice crystal fall speed has long been known as a remarkably powerful control on climate model simulations, and one that remains very poorly constrained by measurements. The fall speeds of liquid-phase particles are relatively well understood over the full range of sizes in the atmosphere; however, ice fall speeds are greatly complicated by the myriad habits and resultant densities that occur. Advances in understanding crystal fall speed will be achieved through a specific focus on making detailed collocated measurements of ice crystal habits, particle size distributions, radar reflectivity, and Doppler velocity spectra.

As hydrometeors grow via vapor deposition, collision, and coalescence processes, they eventually reach large sizes that fall rapidly and are responsible for the primary flux of condensed water from the atmosphere to the surface. Thus, an understanding of *precipitation formation* processes is vital for determining the role that the atmospheric system plays in the hydrologic cycle. Precipitation formation processes remain poorly understood in both warm (liquid-phase) and cold (ice-containing) clouds. In cold clouds, aerosol-induced heterogeneous droplet freezing and ice crystal nucleation are poorly characterized. In warm clouds, several precipitation formation theories have been proposed, placing emphasis on giant aerosol particles, turbulence-induced coagulation, or turbulence-induced fluctuations in saturation and droplet growth. These hypotheses are extremely difficult to examine owing to the multitude of processes that can contribute to precipitation formation. The ASR program will better characterize precipitation properties and rates, along with their relation to dynamic and thermodynamic states, by examining the role of different hydrometeor growth mechanisms and better constraining parameters such as vertical velocity. In addition, ASR will characterize clouds and precipitation together to understand the linkages between the microphysical properties of clouds and the precipitation they produce.

2.2.3 Radiation

The amount of solar radiation that reaches the Earth's surface is strongly influenced by *cloud optical depth*. ARM Facility measurements under clear-sky conditions indicate that the shortwave and longwave spectral and total surface fluxes can be calculated to 1-2% accuracy if the spectral surface albedo and the vertical profiles of water vapor, ozone, temperature, and aerosol optical properties are known. Climate models require calculations of radiation to similar accuracy under all conditions, not just clear sky; however, this degree of accuracy has not yet been realized. Most cloud radiation research has been limited to the simplest case of overcast cloud conditions where 1D (i.e., plane-parallel) radiative transfer assumptions are met. These conditions occur, for instance, less than half of the time at the ARM Facility's mid-latitude Oklahoma site. A more general representation of cloud radiative effects requires knowledge of the 3D cloud extinction structure, whose simplest manifestation of is cloud optical depth, the vertical integral of extinction. Through the combined retrieval of cloud particle size distribution properties and 3D cloud mass concentration, ASR will work to directly characterize 3D extinction.

Recent studies have highlighted that, in many areas of the globe including at some of the ARM Facility fixed sites, the surface solar radiative flux has changed over the last several decades. The mechanisms

behind this "*dimming and brightening*" phenomenon are not understood, but various hypotheses include a change in the aerosol size distribution, changes in cloud properties, or changes in upper tropospheric humidity. Dimming and brightening should be intimately related to the climatological connections between radiation and cloud and aerosol processes. The ASR program will leverage the enhanced ARM Facility suite of instruments to better understand the long-term changes in surface radiation and how clouds and aerosols impact the radiative field.

An important cloud-radiation focus is the *spectral dependence of ice absorption* in both cirrus and mixedphase clouds, and the need to validate and improve single scattering property models across the entire spectrum from the ultraviolet to the far-infrared. The far-infrared $(15-100 \ \mu\text{m})$ and near-infrared $(1-4 \ \mu\text{m})$ are relatively underexplored due to lack of instrumentation that are able to make spectrally resolved observations in these bands, yet approximately 40% of the total outgoing longwave flux is from the farinfrared portion of the spectrum and 35% of the total shortwave flux at the surface is from the nearinfrared. New instruments have recently been developed to make spectrally resolved observations in these bands in order to evaluate and improve both gaseous absorption models and cloud radiative properties in these spectral bands. To increase the accuracy of radiative transfer models in the nearinfrared, the spectral surface albedo, precipitable water vapor, and aerosol size distribution (especially for super-micron particles) all need to be better characterized. ASR will strive to better constrain radiative transfer in these underexplored bands leading to improved radiation parameterizations for GCMs, as was done with earlier radiative transfer advancements made by the ARM Program.

The quantification of the *radiative heating rate profile* will continue to be an emphasis for ASR. Through their radiative interactions with the atmosphere, clouds affect atmospheric stability, which in turn feeds back to the cloud dynamical-microphysical interactions that are responsible for cloud formation. The cloud life cycle cannot be understood without also capturing these important feedbacks. Because climate models typically struggle to capture these feedbacks, they often poorly represent the cloud fields in general. Since radiative heating rate profiles are intimately tied to the microphysical properties of clouds and aerosols in the atmosphere, heating rate calculations also provide a means to validate cloud and aerosol property retrievals via radiative flux closure studies. Additionally, the ARM Facility's new ability to make 3D cloud observations will allow for a more accurate computation of the domain-averaged radiative heating rate profile which can be used to characterize the error associated with using 1D radiative transfer approximations in lieu of a full 3D calculation in various cloud fields. The ASR program will develop a better understanding of 3D radiative transfer in both stratiform and cumuliform cloud fields as a function of domain size.

2.3 Aerosol-Cloud-Precipitation Interactions

Aerosols and clouds are inextricably coupled throughout their life cycles in processes that dictate cloud formation and development, spatial coverage, persistence, and precipitation efficiency. The radiative forcing associated with aerosol-cloud-precipitation interactions is referred to as the *aerosol indirect effect*. Since pre-industrial times, globally averaged, net, top-of-atmosphere mean radiative forcing by aerosols is estimated to be about 75% of that due to the increase in carbon dioxide, but of opposite sign. About 60% of this negative forcing is via the cloud-albedo effect, one of the specific aerosol indirect effects; however, the radiative forcing of the cloud-albedo effect remains highly uncertain. Several of the climate models participating in the IPCC 4AR did not include anthropogenic aerosol-cloud interactions owing to lack of process understanding and of reliable approaches to model representation. Of the representations

that were included, different parameterization approaches (physical and empirical) resulted in large differences in their ultimate radiative impacts. To better represent aerosol-cloud-precipitation interactions in climate models, ASR recognizes the critical need for improved understanding in several areas: (1) the impact of aerosols on cloud particle formation processes that affect the concentration and size-distribution of cloud particles, (2) radiative impacts determined by the microphysical and macrophysical structure of clouds influenced by aerosol, and (3) precipitation efficiency dictated by a myriad of related processes including cloud depth, collision/coalescence, and entrainment. Cloud processing of aerosol also plays an important role in aerosol chemical and microphysical properties through aqueous-phase chemistry, aerosol removal and vertical redistribution mediated by precipitation and vertical motions, and aerosol global characteristics and geographical distribution.

2.3.1 Cloud Particle Formation

A key requirement for simulating aerosol-cloud interactions is the ability to calculate *cloud condensation nuclei and ice nuclei* (CCN and IN, respectively) concentrations as a function of supersaturation from the chemical and microphysical properties of the aerosol. There is a need to quantify aerosol influences on cloud drop and ice particle concentrations, size distribution, ice crystal habit, precipitation development, and the dependence of these influences on the anthropogenic and natural aerosol components. Understanding of cloud particle formation processes coupled with known CCN and IN concentrations allows for direct simulation of cloud particle concentrations, one of the main determinants of cloud albedo.

Several key processes concerning *droplet formation* in warm clouds remain poorly understood. The influence of subgrid-scale convection and entrainment on supersaturation and droplet nucleation needs to be characterized so that aerosol effects on shallow cumulus clouds can be treated in climate models. Entrainment effects on droplet formation are represented in models, but have not been tested with long-term observations. The effects of aerosols on droplet dispersion need to be understood well enough to be expressed in a physically-based, rather than the current empirically-based, manner. Representing aerosol effects on precipitation and cirrus anvil detrainment from deep cumulus clouds requires understanding of the environmental factors that affect the sensitivity of deep convective clouds to aerosols. That understanding can lead to better treatments of aerosol effects on the microphysics, precipitation, and detrainment from parameterized cumulus clouds.

Representation of aerosol effects on *ice particle formation* will require improved understanding of both the aerosol properties that determine ice nuclei concentration as a function of saturation, and the processes that control the supersaturation in updrafts. ASR will use laboratory experiments to improve understanding and to develop parameterizations of ice nucleation, as well as field measurements of ice nuclei concentration and the size and composition of ice crystal residuals to evaluate the nucleation parameterizations. To improve understanding of supersaturation, cloud-resolving models with the ice nucleation, parameterizations will be used to determine the dynamical and microphysical processes that control supersaturation in cirrus and mixed-phase clouds. This improved understanding can in turn be used to develop subgrid-scale treatments of supersaturation, evaluated using field measurements from an array of new airborne aerosol, cloud, and atmospheric state probes.

2.3.2 Cloud Processing of Aerosol

Much of the atmospheric processing that governs the transformation of precursor gases into aerosol particles occurs in the aqueous phase of clouds, with resulting changes not just in the amount of aerosol but also in the size distributed composition. The *processing of aerosol by clouds*, including vertical transport, aqueous-phase chemistry, droplet collision/coalescences, and wet deposition can affect the distribution, composition, and size distribution as well as the mass concentration of the aerosol. The principal process by which accumulation-mode aerosol particles are removed from the atmosphere involves uptake of these particles into cloud drops which subsequently precipitate; thus precipitation development both depends on aerosol properties (through the influence of aerosols on cloud drop number concentration and size) and influences the amount and nature of aerosol particles that are deposited on the surface or returned to clear air upon cloud droplet evaporation.

Improved measurements of organic and inorganic components present in precipitation can aid in evaluation of aerosol lifetimes and *removal processes*. Indeed, the measurement of soluble organic materials in precipitation and their isotopic and molecular signatures may be a very useful means of determining aerosol sources as well as preferential removal of specific components in aerosols. Characterization of aerosol derived components in precipitation can shed light on the importance of hygroscopic aerosol species and soluble gases on cloud processing of aerosol, as well as providing information concerning the potential impact of light absorbing aerosols on clouds, as well as the geographical distribution of aerosol in cloud-free conditions.

2.3.3 Precipitation

Aerosol induced changes in the number and size distribution of cloud droplets or ice particles influence the *development of precipitation*. The sum of these and cloud dynamical processes dictates not only the amount of precipitation reaching the ground, with implications for water resources, but also the persistence and structure of the cloud, with implications for cloud radiative forcing. For example, the full interactions between clouds and aerosols in boundary layer stratocumulus are thought to cause the rapid transition of the cloud-aerosol system from relatively polluted closed-cellular convection with weak precipitation to clean open-cellular convection with more intense precipitation. This transition has profound implications for precipitation, as well as cloud field structure and cloud radiative forcing, and is a topic of ASR research.

A commonly accepted theory of aerosol-cloud-precipitation interactions in warm clouds is that as aerosol concentrations increase, cloud droplets become smaller, thus suppressing precipitation. A secondary effect is that clouds persist and may increase in spatial coverage. However, modeling studies show that contrary to expectation, an increase in aerosol concentration from very clean to very polluted does not increase cloud persistence in shallow boundary layer clouds, even though precipitation is suppressed. Processes such as evaporation-entrainment feedbacks tend to dilute polluted clouds more than clean clouds, creating competing effects of precipitation. Additional IN can enhanced evaporation. Precipitation in cold clouds is usually initiated by ice formation. Additional IN can enhance precipitation from cold clouds by nucleating ice crystals, which grow by vapor deposition and collection of cloud droplets. The net effect on cloud albedo depends on the relative increase in cloud-activated CCN and IN. Accurate model representation of precipitation-related processes impacts cloud albedo through changes in

microphysics as well as cloud coverage and persistence. ASR scientists will investigate these *processes that contribute to cloud persistence* to ensure that the basic physical mechanisms are properly captured within models.

To advance understanding of precipitation processes in warm clouds, *turbulence and drizzle* measurements will need to be connected to the aerosol measurements to facilitate studies of the effects of CCN on cloud and drizzle properties, the effects of the wet removal of aerosol and/or evaporation of drizzle in modifying local aerosol, and defining cloud updraft statistics near cloud base where CCN are activated. In cold clouds, mass concentration and fall speed are basic parameters for ice and snow precipitation. Models also need to represent the *size distribution and crystal habit* properly, including factors such as cross-sectional area, density, and maximum diameter. In the Arctic, for example, habit and fall speed appear to be extremely important to the lifetime of the cloud and the evolution of the thermodynamic field. Improving model representation of ice cloud is essential for understanding precipitation and is currently a major focus area for model development at a range of scales.

2.3.4 Radiative Impacts

Anthropogenic increases in cloud-activated CCN modify cloud microphysical properties by decreasing the average cloud droplet size thus increasing the number of droplets sharing the same amount of cloud liquid water. This process is known as the *cloud albedo effect*. A reduction in the cloud droplet size can impact the atmospheric energy balance because the smaller droplets reflect more incoming solar radiation to space than clouds unaffected by aerosol and proportionally reduce the amount of radiation reaching the surface. This process is not limited in its radiative impact to just shortwave radiation, but has also been shown to impact infrared radiation especially in clouds with low amounts of liquid water path such as in the Arctic. Additional research is needed to more fully quantify both the shortwave and longwave albedo effect under a wider range of environmental conditions.

Quantifying the cloud albedo effect requires a statistical measurement approach in order to isolate it from the range of cloud dynamical mechanisms that may change the amount of cloud liquid water and hence the solar reflectivity. Measurements from ARM Facility surface-based remote sensors have been used to pioneer observing strategies used to examine and quantify specific *links between cloud liquid water, cloud droplet size, cloud dynamics, and cloud reflectance.* The program has also advanced understanding of aerosol indirect effects through the use of new, specialized instrumentation that enables the CCN feeding cloud updrafts to be accurately counted and the response of the cloud structure to be simultaneously gauged. Results derived from ARM Facility observations have shown that measurements of aerosol indirect effects are sensitive to the observing methodology, which is motivating ASR in the development of new approaches to address these sensitivities.

In addition to their influence on cloud microphysical properties, aerosols have a strong influence on *cloud formation and development* and thus dictate to some extent cloud distributions and cloud macrophysical properties. It has become increasingly evident that the size and distribution of clouds is an important factor influencing cloud albedo. In warm boundary layer cloud systems, small clouds have been shown to have the greatest contribution to cloud number, and large contributions to cloud area (fraction) and reflectance. Aerosol- and dynamical-related processes that influence cloud field structure are not well understood at this time and observational approaches have not been fully developed for the current suite of sensors. Small clouds are difficult to detect and quantify because they often fall below the resolution

of most space-borne observational sensors. ARM Facility observations at a range of scales are being used to improve understanding of cloud field structure and to use this information in 3D models to further progress in radiative transfer of broken cloud fields.

The light-absorbing properties of aerosols can have a strong influence on cloud dynamics though heating, referred to as the *semi-direct effect*. Typically, the presence of absorbing aerosol is thought to induce atmospheric stability, suppress vertical motion, and decrease cloud formation. However, the localized heating caused by absorbing aerosol may work to either stabilize or destabilize the boundary layer depending on interactions with surface properties and processes, dictating whether or not reductions in overall cloudiness occur.

Aerosols affect the Earth's energy budget primarily by affecting the global albedo. A continuously varying range of albedo values, with end-members of clear and cloudy, results from variable and currently indeterminate combinations of hydrated aerosol from sub-visual or tenuous cloud to optically thick cloud. Nevertheless, many research methods are premised on a dichotomy of clear and cloudy states, dividing the aerosol forcing problem into direct and indirect components respectively. Two consequences arise. First, observational approaches that rely on discrimination of clear versus cloudy data points are inconsistent and sensitive to variation in concentrations of unactivated aerosol particles. Second, aerosol radiative forcing is inaccurately calculated as the average of clear and cloudy conditions, which may lead to substantial errors resulting from neglect of the intermediate states of albedo. For example, an increase in direct radiative forcing over oceans in partly cloudy environments caused by enhanced scattering of hydrated aerosols near clouds, so-called "halos," may contribute substantially to average albedo but is ignored as a result of being classified as either clear or cloudy. Treating the direct and indirect components of aerosol radiative forcing holistically, and not as disjoint phenomena, will improve understanding and representation of the clear-to-cloudy range in global albedo.

3.0 Measurement and Process Modeling Research

Observations are a crucial foundation for advances in understanding and modeling of the climate system. To reach the scientific goals outlined above, the ASR program will make detailed measurements of the aerosol-cloud-precipitation continuum, the processes that define this continuum, and the radiative and dynamical environment in which it exists. A major element of these activities is to derive the relevant geophysical properties from these measurements, an activity that will itself require a substantial research effort. In coordination with these observational efforts is the *process modeling* component of the ASR program, which will incorporate the geophysical data sets into modeling frameworks and analyses at various scales to develop a more comprehensive understanding, and an improved model representation, of the climatically important atmospheric processes. By pursuing these complementary goals of measuring and modeling simultaneously, ASR will achieve more efficient advancement in both areas.

The methods and tools that will be utilized to implement the ASR program's scientific objectives are outlined in this section for both observational and process modeling activities. These two sets of activities are intimately linked. Model studies and uncertainties establish observational priorities by specifically identifying the geophysical parameters and processes that must be better understood. In turn, observational data sets are used to initialize, constrain, evaluate, and ultimately develop model parameterizations. One of the ASR program's characteristics is its efforts to enable more effective feedback between observational work and model studies.

The ASR program's observational and modeling approach is to:

- Determine the essential characteristics of the coordinated laboratory and field measurements necessary to understand aerosol and cloud life cycles and aerosol-cloud-precipitation-radiation interactions (e.g., variables measured, measurement accuracy, sampling strategies).
- Develop research strategies to create the integrated data products necessary to improve the understanding of aerosol-cloud-precipitation-radiation interactions (e.g., retrieval development, uncertainty analysis, data product collocation, quality control).
- Utilize the integrated data products to evaluate, and ultimately improve, the parameterization of aerosol-cloud-precipitation-radiation processes in models over a range of scales (e.g., what data products are needed, what metrics are used to evaluate model improvement).
- Evaluate the trade-off between the minimum level of model complexity and model accuracy required to represent the range of atmospheric conditions that determine climatically relevant aerosol and cloud properties and aerosol-cloud-precipitation-radiation interactions.

3.1 Observational Methods and Tools

ASR is an observation-based program, whereby measurement data are used to derive new insights into atmospheric processes and to critically evaluate the results from numerical models. The ARM Facility has a wide range of in situ and remote sensing instrumentation that can be used to characterize the atmospheric thermodynamic structure, cloud properties, aerosol properties, and the radiative environment. New observational tools acquired as part of the ARRA of 2009 greatly enhance the capabilities of the

ARM Facility, providing the capability for developing new insights into cloud and aerosol properties, dynamics, and precipitation that were not possible before. The ARM Facility enhanced observational suite is now able to more completely observe properties and processes along the entire range of the aerosol-cloud-precipitation continuum, and will provide the data needed to evaluate the range of processes outlined in Section 2. ASR and the ARM Facility will be tightly coupled, with ARM observations used in ASR analyses and ASR providing guidance on the essential characteristics that the ARM data sets need to have.

Laboratory studies, informed by short-term intensive field campaigns, are necessary to support and supplement the long-term ARM Facility observations. Laboratory studies are essential to unraveling processes involving chemical reactions and composition-dependent aerosol microphysical properties. Examples include investigating the effects of size-dependent composition and mixing state on CCN, IN, and particle optical properties; reactions of organic precursor gases; and the mechanisms of new particle and SOA formation. These studies are vital for the development and testing of next-generation, field-deployable measurement technology and for measurements-based investigations of key atmospheric processes under controlled conditions. The design and optimization of cloud and aerosol microphysical instrumentation is key to developing insight and understanding of atmospheric processes. Examples for clouds include the development of new and more compact CCN and IN spectrometers, cloud particle sampling probes that alleviate problems associated with shattering and bouncing of ice particles at probe inlets, and in situ methods to measure the optical properties of hydrometeors within clouds. Examples for aerosols include instruments capable of measuring particle size, shape and speciation, ideally on a single-particle basis and at frequencies suitable for aircraft sampling, and extending the size range of field-deployable particle measurements.

Typically, the measurement made by any instrument (e.g., a voltage) is not what is ultimately desired. Rather, the needed geophysical variable must either be derived or retrieved from the raw measurements. This retrieval problem is often ill conditioned, and thus benefits from the synergistic use of multiple coordinated sensors that can provide a more accurate measure of the geophysical variable. It is critical that uncertainties in the raw observations and a priori information used in the retrieval process be propagated through physical models to provide uncertainties in the retrieved variable. Accurate characterization of uncertainties in all geophysical variables derived from ARM Facility data is a high priority of the ASR program. ASR will develop well-characterized data products with uncertainties to allow for clarity in research and the most efficient means for evaluating model simulations.

3.1.1 Aerosol Observations

Understanding the life cycle of aerosols and characterizing their optical, chemical, and microphysical properties requires both *in situ and remote sensing observations*. In situ measurements, which may be made continuously at surface stations, yield essential microphysical, chemical, and optical properties of aerosols and permit inference of governing processes. Such measurements readily allow local closure experiments relating optical and CCN and IN properties to size distributed composition, and permit aerosol properties to be related to measures of aerosol processing such as photochemical age and dilution. However, in situ observations made at the surface are generally not representative of aerosol in the full atmospheric column. Consequently aircraft measurements, although inevitably limited in space and time, are essential to understanding the three-dimensional distribution of aerosols, their properties affecting radiation and clouds, and their evolution. A major challenge to ASR is extending the capabilities and

coverage of in situ observations through developing and applying means of using ground-based remotesensing observations, suitable for long-term analyses, to provide the information needed to determine aerosol properties and aerosol influences on clouds and radiation. The addition of the Mobile Aerosol Observing System to the ARM Facility, an aerosol observing system at the Darwin ARM site, aerosol instrumentation for the second Mobile Facility, and new aerosol instruments for the Aerial Facility will be key to studying aerosol life cycle questions that are a focus of ASR.

New particle formation, which affects the number concentration of particles, is a key process in aerosol dynamics that governs size distributed composition and in turn the aerosol optical and cloud nucleating properties. New particle formation needs to be better characterized under a variety of controlling environmental conditions, especially the role of organics; this need is driving development of instrumentation to extend measurements of particle composition to smaller and smaller particle size. Also important is the need to identify gas phase precursors and determine their concentrations and the dependence of new particle formation rates on these substances. The latter need is driving the application of mass spectrometry using gentle ionization techniques such as chemical ionization to preserve the molecular structure of gas-phase precursors. Application of these new techniques in laboratory studies and field measurements will undoubtedly help to bridge the key gap in understanding of processes responsible for stable new particles in the size range between molecular clusters and particles of current minimum detection size (about 3 nm), thereby allowing confident representation of these processes in models.

As particles grow their ability to serve as CCN or IN depends strongly on the size and composition of the particle. ASR considers it critical to understand the different chemical and physical characteristics that influence the *formation of liquid and/or ice on an aerosol particle* and to improve techniques to characterize CCN and IN as a function of supersaturation. Laboratory studies under controlled conditions and field studies in ambient conditions are both necessary. Techniques are needed to permit determination of the size and composition of cloud particle nuclei as well as to distinguish between ice and droplet nuclei in order to characterize the properties of the small fraction of particles that are ice nuclei.

Models typically simulate far less *secondary organic aerosol* (SOA) than is observed in the atmosphere. Laboratory and field studies of both gas- and aqueous-phase SOA formation and investigations on how SOA particles mix with other aerosol types are needed. The aging of these particles due to both the condensation of secondary material on the particle and coagulation with other particles is widely considered to impact their ability to serve as CCN and to absorb radiant energy. These studies require a wide range of observational tools to characterize the gaseous precursor concentrations, aerosol size distribution, chemical composition, and absorptive properties; many of these tools are already operated within or are being acquired by the ARM Facility and techniques are being developed to better utilize these observations to gain a better understanding of the physical processes along the SOA lifecycle.

Ultimately, determining the full impact of aerosols throughout their lifecycle on clouds, precipitation, and the radiation budget requires knowledge of the spatial distributions of *aerosol microphysical and optical properties* over time. The vertical distribution of light-absorbing aerosol impacts the diabatic heating rate profile, especially in cloud-free scenes, and hence changes the thermodynamic structure of the atmosphere. Aerosol optical depth is routinely measured at ARM Facility fixed and mobile sites using shortwave ground-based radiometry, but is limited to column averages in cloud-free conditions, whereas active remote sensing by lidar is used to determine the vertical distribution of aerosol under clear and
cloudy conditions. The Doppler and Raman lidars to be acquired by the ARM Facility will further understanding in aerosol-cloud-precipitation-radiation processes with the capability to determine both aerosol vertical profiles and vertical air velocity. Observations of the concentration of CCN and the vertical velocity near cloud base, together with accurate measurements of cloud properties and radiative fluxes, will be used to develop and test representations describing the impact of aerosols on cloud microphysical properties. Aerosol absorption, its spectral dependence, and its dependence on relative humidity are difficult to measure with ground-based remote sensors. ASR will take advantage of recent advances in aircraft instrumentation to study how absorbing aerosol is vertically distributed in different geographical locations and its consequent impacts on vertically distributed radiative fluxes and heating. Improved remotely sensed measurements of total column aerosol absorption, especially in low aerosol optical depth conditions, will also be pursued.

3.1.2 Cloud Observations

Clouds are difficult to model because of their complexity and wide range of pertinent scales. They lie at the intersection of vapor, liquid, and ice and are subject to many microphysical processes that convert water from one of these phases to another. Clouds and cloud system life times range from minutes to weeks, their spatial scales range from meters to hundreds of kilometers, and their important processes can occur at the microscale to the synoptic scale. Thus, a wide range of in situ and remote sensor observations is needed to improve understanding of the cloud life cycle.

To first order, the most important variable needed to understand the cloud life cycle and its impact on the radiative and hydrological cycles is the *amount of condensed cloud water*, both instantaneously and statistically over time. The ASR program will emphasize the measurement of liquid water path (LWP) and ice water path (IWP) using vertically pointing instrumentation, with a specific focus on improving and characterizing the retrieval accuracy. Of particular importance are improved retrievals of LWP in thin clouds, which have a very sensitive interaction with atmospheric radiation, utilizing spectral infrared measurements and newly acquired microwave radiometer channels, among other strategies. In addition, the three-dimensional distribution of liquid and ice water content (LWC and IWC, respectively) as a function of time, and especially statistics that describe these distributions under a variety of synoptic conditions, are essential. Characterizing these important cloud properties will require a coordinated effort to optimally combine information from a variety of instruments, new and old, including infrared and solar spectrometers, lidar, scanning microwave radiometer, scanning radar, and aircraft in situ sensors.

Serious difficulties are encountered when attempting to quantify IWC and IWP. Remote sensor-based retrievals often rely on uncertain assumptions about ice crystal habit (shape) and effective density. Moreover, in situ ice measurements have historically suffered from crystals shattering on probe inlets, resulting in large biases in the crystal concentration as a function of particle size, especially for crystals smaller than 50 μ m. Both of these issues present challenges for interpreting past observations of IWC and IWP, which were used to construct model parameterizations. These difficulties support the need for new and improved methods. ASR is poised to better observe the ice crystal habit and effective density using improved aircraft probes that reduce shattering artifacts, new measurements from scanning radars that will be validated against aircraft in situ crystal imaging probes, and advanced lidars that are able to measure the ice cloud extinction profile directly.

In addition to bulk cloud properties, the *cloud particle size distribution* and its dispersion (width) are important controlling factors in many processes, including radiative transfer through clouds, interactions of cloud particles with aerosols, and precipitation formation. Thus, improved techniques to characterize the cloud particle size distribution will contribute to a better understanding of crucial linkages in the aerosol-cloud-precipitation continuum. Some remote sensing techniques are able to retrieve cloud particle effective radius, an important characteristic of the full size distribution; however, these measurements struggle to explicitly describe the complete size distribution. While fully characterizing the particle size distribution in all conditions will continue to be difficult, targeted aircraft campaigns using sensors that minimize crystal shattering will be the key to future improvements and may help to unlock the size distribution information contained in cloud radar Doppler spectra. In coordination with cloud measurements, in situ observations of cloud condensation nuclei spectra will be made below and above cloud layers. These measurements, augmented by fast turbulence gust-probe measurements of vertical velocity, will provide valuable data sets for testing theories and developing parameterizations of processes such as cloud droplet and drizzle formation. ASR will also pursue synergetic techniques that combine multiple observations with different sensitivities to the particle size distribution to better characterize the size distribution in a wider range of conditions.

Mixed-phase clouds, where water exists in all three phases simultaneously, are extremely challenging to model. The long-term and campaign data sets collected at the ARM North Slope of Alaska site have greatly improved knowledge of mixed-phase cloud processes, yet there is still much to learn. In these clouds, the liquid water is supercooled, making in situ observations more difficult due to aircraft and probe icing effects. Many remote sensing techniques are sensitive more to one phase of cloud particles than the other (liquid vs. ice), limiting the information available from any one instrument. Furthermore, as in all clouds, accurate characterization of the ambient relative humidity is needed to better understand the interaction between vapor and the condensed phases. ASR will therefore pursue mixed-phase cloud characterization by using synergetic measurements and retrieval methods based on unique mixed-phase signatures from instruments such as depolarization lidars, cloud radar Doppler spectra, infrared spectrometers, and aircraft in situ probes capable of measuring across the full range of both liquid and ice particle sizes.

3.1.3 Precipitation Observations

Like clouds, precipitation occurs on a variety of scales and intensities, which are determined by the environmental conditions. The ARM Facility's new three-dimensional (3D) observing capabilities, based on scanning radiometers and precipitation radars, provide a detailed view of precipitation on a range of scales and will allow for the processes associated with precipitation to be studied much more extensively than is currently possible.

A primary initial focus for ASR is to obtain 3D measurements of the *precipitation field* around the ARM Facility sites using the new scanning precipitation radars. This includes liquid and ice precipitation in both convective and stratiform conditions. The separation of total condensed water path into cloud and precipitation components is important for model validation and to understand the processes linking clouds and precipitation. ASR will place an increased emphasis on developing the multi-sensor techniques that are needed to observe and understand these precipitation processes. A related and important geophysical variable that is needed for model evaluation is the *latent heating rate profile*, and methods are needed to derive this variable from the precipitation observations. For both of these cases, it is imperative for ASR

to design radar scanning strategies that can best capture the 3D distribution of precipitation while also placing these measurements within the context of historical and ongoing vertically pointing measurements.

Microphysical processes are important to the onset, intensity, and duration of precipitation events. Studies have shown, for example, that *dispersion (width) of the droplet size distribution* is one of the main controlling factors in drizzle and rain formation. Additionally, uncertainties in collision and coalescence processes and the role of aerosol entrainment into precipitating clouds lead to large uncertainties in numerical model simulations. ARM Facility observations will be used to investigate the factors that control droplet dispersion and the subsequent growth of precipitation-size hydrometeors (e.g., entrainment, updraft velocity, turbulence, and relative humidity). Due to the complexities associated with precipitation formation, ASR will construct a hierarchy of observational strategies including aircraft missions examining specific processes that impact precipitation such as entrainment; ground-based scanning radars to understand the broader spatial organization of precipitation systems; and vertically pointing Doppler lidars and radars to target vertical velocity and turbulence information.

3.1.4 Radiation Observations

Major advancements in the understanding of radiative transfer, especially in cloud-free atmospheres, have been made by ARM, yet several questions remain unanswered and many new applications can be addressed using the ARM Facility's updated and new radiometry. *Spectrally resolved radiance and flux observations* in the solar and infrared spectral regions are crucial to the understanding of both clear-sky and cloudy radiative processes. An extensive data set (~15 years) of downwelling longwave spectral radiance has been collected at many locations, and the recent increase in the temporal resolution in this data by an order of magnitude is enabling more accurate cloud property retrievals from these data. These observations have been used to improve detailed clear sky infrared radiative transfer models, as well as the parameterization of infrared radiative transfer used in climate models. Additionally, aerosol properties, including composition, have been retrieved from spectral infrared observations in African dust cases, although, with more work is needed to fully mine the infrared spectra to provide more information on aerosol types and atmospheric properties.

The shortwave spectral data set acquired by ARM spans less than two years at a single site, as opposed to the spectral infrared data sets that span over a decade at multiple sites. Due to the resulting paucity of spectrally resolved observations in the visible and near-infrared at the ARM Facility sites and the limited climatological sampling, there remain many uncertainties associated with *spectral shortwave radiative transfer*, and in particular in the magnitude of the absorption or solar radiation by clouds and aerosols. The new spectral shortwave measurements at the ARM Facility sites, made possible by the ARRA funds, will be used to investigate the accuracy of gaseous, liquid, and ice absorption models in the visible and near-infrared portions of the spectrum. The new observations will ensure that the spectral absorption by water vapor, aerosols, and clouds are properly treated in climate models. These studies require that the spectral surface albedo, especially in the near-infrared, be well characterized. These new spectral observations will, in particular, be used to investigate the radiative properties of the humidified aerosol that typically surrounds cumulus clouds, which is one component of the aerosol-cloud continuum.

Cloud property retrievals, especially of optical depth from passive radiometers, will continue to be improved and new techniques will be developed that integrate spectral radiance observations with those

from other remote sensors to retrieve additional information about cloud microphysical properties (e.g., ice crystal habit, droplet dispersion in thin liquid clouds, etc.) that are not possible using a single instrument. The addition of the new 90 GHz channel in the ARM Facility's new 3-channel microwave radiometers provides increased sensitivity to LWP, which is especially important for accurately characterizing clouds with LWP values less than 100 g/m^2 that occur very frequently in nature. The accuracy of the forward microwave absorption model at 90 GHz, and in particular the temperature sensitivity of the liquid water absorption, will be tested and improved.

From a radiative point of view, the most important cloud property is the optical depth. Recent efforts by ARM investigators have greatly expanded the complement of tools that can retrieve optical depth, but most of these methods do not provide information on the *vertical distribution of the optical depth* (i.e., the extinction profile). Advanced lidars, such as the new Raman lidar and the high-spectral-resolution lidars that are the result of the ARRA procurement, are able to directly measure the extinction profiles in cases where the optical depth is less than approximately 3. Combining measurements of the extinction profile of these clouds with other observations allows information such as the profiles of water content and the effective cloud particle size to be retrieved more accurately. These data products, which currently require development and validation, will greatly aid investigations of the radiative properties of cirrus where these advanced lidars are deployed. In particular, these lidar observations, together with other remote sensing observations, will be used to investigate the importance of small ice crystals in the cirrus particle size distribution and the impact of these small crystals on the radiative fields and lifetime of the cloud.

The radiative influence of *ozone* is climatically important in both the solar and thermal spectral regions, as it is one of the most important greenhouse gases after carbon dioxide. Heretofore, the ARM Facility has relied on once-a-day NASA satellite overpasses to provide column ozone measurements. Since the tropospheric ozone concentration can change significantly in only a few hours, daily measurements are inadequate for precise testing of radiative transfer models. Also, discriminating the tropospheric component (small) from stratospheric component (large) of the total ozone amount is crucial; it is the tropospheric component that varies the most due to anthropogenic influences and it is nearly impossible to retrieve accurately from satellites. ASR should therefore pursue methods to measure tropospheric ozone concentration from the surface.

3.1.5 Dynamics and Thermodynamics Observations

Clouds and aerosols evolve in an environment where many factors can influence the various processes that affect their lifetimes. Thus, an improved characterization of this environment is crucial.

Water vapor, and in particular *relative humidity*, is a key factor that influences many processes associated with clouds, aerosol, precipitation, and radiation. Thus, ASR needs to produce water vapor profiles with sufficient accuracy and temporal and vertical resolutions to resolve variability in this important parameter. Water vapor is currently measured in situ by radiosondes and aircraft; remote sensing methods include direct measurements of water vapor by Raman lidar and retrievals from spectrally-resolved infrared observations. The column-integrated water vapor, also called precipitable water vapor (PWV), is a strong constraint and is used to calibrate the profiles derived from remote sensors. Continued effort must be placed on improving PWV retrievals in very dry and moist conditions (< 1 cm and > 4 cm, respectively). ASR will continue to characterize and improve radiosonde water vapor measurements, and will place a large emphasis on the retrieval of water vapor from the ground-based remote sensors, especially in cloudy

environments. In particular, ASR will focus on accurately observing humidity in the upper troposphere, and to improve the accuracy and vertical/temporal resolution of humidity measurements in the boundary layer throughout the diurnal cycle, especially near the top of the boundary layer where clouds often form.

The lifetime of cloud particles is strongly tied to ambient conditions and *cloud-scale dynamics*. Water vapor condenses to liquid or ice only when saturation conditions occur, which typically coincide with updrafts. Entrainment of drier ambient air or more CCN into the cloud can have a large impact on the microphysical properties of the cloud and hence its lifetime and radiative properties. The new observational capabilities of the ARM Facility allow these cloud-scale dynamical conditions to be better measured. Doppler spectra from the cloud and precipitation radars provide a wealth of radial velocity information on hydrometeor movement; however, new techniques are needed to account for particle fall speed and derive 3D maps of vertical velocity. The addition of Doppler lidars at several of the ARM Facility sites provides another measure of vertical velocity that complements the Doppler radar observations due to the different weighting by particle size. ASR will develop algorithms that utilize both of these data sets to determine the cloud scale air motion and fall speed, and to investigate turbulent processes within clouds. In addition, data from the Doppler lidars and high-resolution water vapor observations from the Raman lidar will be used to develop statistics on the turbulent structure in the boundary layer in cloud-free scenes; these observations will be used to relate turbulent structure with other variables (e.g., shear at the top of the boundary layer, surface heat fluxes) to develop and improve parameterizations of boundary layer turbulence.

The characterization of the surface layer is essential for ASR modeling efforts. *Surface latent and sensible heat fluxes*, which are important boundary conditions, can be quite variable over an inhomogeneous surface. The program will continue to emphasize the measurement of these surface fluxes and to use these fluxes to initialize and evaluate models. Each site faces unique challenges associated with this activity, especially the mobile facility sites that often lack some of the additional infrastructure associated with the fixed ARM Facility sites.

3.2 Process Modeling Methods and Tools

An overarching goal of ASR is to narrow the uncertainties in the model-based prediction of future climate for a given emission scenario, specifically the uncertainties related to the representation of aerosol and cloud processes. The previous sections summarize the specific aerosol, cloud, and precipitation processes targeted for improvement, as well as the key measurement strategies that will be implemented to gather the required data. This section outlines the final step in an iterative loop, wherein physical and chemical understanding of the pertinent processes is implemented in models and model performance rigorously evaluated to ensure that these processes are properly represented. While one end goal of ASR is to improve GCMs, the tremendous difference between the resolution of GCMs (hundreds of km in horizontal resolution, for instance) and the resolution required to resolve virtually all relevant physical processes (generally much less than 1 km for cloud processes and their interaction with aerosols) suggests that using a hierarchy of models with decreasing domain sizes is the most effective strategy to determine whether interdependent processes are properly understood and evaluated using the ground truth provided by field and laboratory measurements. This strategy is illustrated in Figure 6.

3.2.1 Process Model Development

There is a continuing need to develop models in order to incorporate (1) the latest findings on aerosol and cloud life cycle processes and (2) new approaches for representing these processes numerically. ASR activities will span the full range from process-level parameterization development at the box-model level to the incorporation of new parameterizations and observational constraints and testing these at the GCM scales.

As described in Section 2.1, modeling of the *aerosol life cycle* requires representation of transport, emissions, new particle and secondary aerosol formation, aging, mixing state, optical properties, and removal. To maintain their relevance, aerosol life cycle models need to evolve as measurements evolve; however, comprehensive aerosol models are computationally expensive and thus some simplifications via parameterizations are needed. For example, new particle-resolved size/composition measurements, which are capable of resolving general mixing states, pose a special challenge. Whereas some detailed process and regional models can afford to divide aerosol size distributions explicitly into size range "bins" and represent properties independently in each bin, even these require that all particles in the same size bin have the same composition (assumption of internal mixing) and are thus inadequate for treating the general mixing states of a multi-component aerosol. Simulations capable of separately tracking the life histories of a million or more particles using Monte Carlo methods, while excellent for testing approximations at the box model level, are far too computationally demanding for application in larger scale models such as a GCM. Integral to all models is the representation of the aerosol particle distribution function. Global models must select a minimum number of tracers (transported scalars) to achieve this representation. Tracers can be individual bin populations, modal properties (e.g. number and mass of a prescribed particle distribution function), or selected statistical moments of a multivariate generally mixed population. ASR will support research in all of these approaches in order to most rapidly accelerate understanding of aerosol processes using smaller-scale models, as well as to roll up such knowledge into improved regional and global-scale models.



Figure 6. A strategy for improving the representation of cloud and aerosol properties and processes in climate models (adapted from Ghan and Schwartz 2007). Laboratory experiments provide data used to improve understanding of isolated cloud and aerosol processes and constrain process models. Field studies (both long-term and intensive) provide data for testing process models. The suite of all process models governing the life cycles of clouds and aerosols are applied to regional atmosphere models (large eddy simulation, cloud-resolving, single-column, and mesoscale), and these integrated models are also evaluated using data from the field studies. The process models are then applied to global models, which are evaluated with the field study data and with satellite data.

In the cloud life cycle (as in the aerosol life cycle), a wide range of dominant physical processes occur on unresolved scales (e.g., entrainment of clear air) and these must be approximated or parameterized in model types ranging from large-eddy simulation (often 20-100 m horizontal resolution) to cloudresolving model (often 4-10 km horizontal resolution) to GCM (generally >100 km resolution). Improving *cloud microphysical parameterizations* is especially important to assess aerosol indirect effects. "Bulk schemes" diagnose cloud liquid and ice mass, but more simply specify the effective cloud particle size for radiative purposes and include only limited treatment of complex mixed-phase processes. More advanced schemes include the computation of at least cloud particle number concentration and mass (i.e., a "two-moment scheme" because these are the 0th and 3rd moments of the particle size distribution, respectively). These enable the mean cloud particle size to evolve in response to aerosols, which is necessary for representing aerosol indirect effects on radiative transfer and precipitation formation, as well as chemistry-cloud-aerosol interactions such as wet deposition and scavenging. Two-moment schemes have been implemented in both regional-scale models and GCMs, but much work remains to be done, as in the representation of subgrid variability. Given the importance of multi-moment schemes to representing aerosol-cloud interactions in GCMs, ASR will continue to support their further development and evaluation. Similar to representation of aerosols, so-called "bin" or sectional models also exist to represent cloud particle size distributions in the most generalized and detailed fashion for study of specific complex processes in smaller-scale models. However, the detailed microphysical data that must be input to bin models (e.g., efficiency of riming for specific pairs of hail and droplet sizes as a function of atmospheric state) are often not well constrained by laboratory studies to date and are also not well evaluated using field experiments. ASR is well positioned to identify the key uncertainties in bin models and resolve them with targeted laboratory and field studies, thereby accelerating bin model use to conclusively resolve rain and ice formation process questions, among others.

There are many physical processes that influence the cloud life cycle must be better understood and represented in numerical models. A key GCM subgrid-scale process is atmospheric convection, as it controls the formation of convective precipitation, provides latent heat that drives atmospheric circulations, and transports water vapor, aerosols, and chemical species vertically. The parameterization of atmospheric convection has proven difficult as there are many characteristics of convection that must be understood and represented, such as when and where convection occurs, how much mass is transported between vertical levels (including the critical issue of how much environmental air is entrained into a convective updraft plume), the vertical velocity of air in the updraft plumes, how much precipitation evaporates before reaching the surface, whether such evaporation creates downdrafts that cool and dry the boundary layer, and the degree to which convective organization at the mesoscale affects the lifetime of convective systems. Turbulent mixing is another physical process that requires improvement in GCMs. Some specific challenges with representing mixing in models include the rate of entrainment of the overlying air into the boundary layer, whether mixing between clear and cloudy air is homogeneous (cloud particle number conserving) or inhomogeneous (non-conserving), and the fraction of a grid-box with cloud and its vertical overlap. ASR can make key contributions to the development of improved convection and mixing parameterizations through its extensive observations of physical properties like vertical velocity that are retrieved from scanning cloud and precipitation radars.

An especially important effort dedicated to advancing cloud modeling is the ongoing development of *large-scale forcing data sets* for ARM Facility measurement sites. Because the essential activity of cloud parameterization involves relating mean grid-scale cloud and atmospheric state evolution to initial environmental conditions, it is crucial to sufficiently characterize the large-scale environment for many modeling studies. However, many important large-scale variables (such as mean vertical wind) are

currently impossible to measure directly, whereas others (such as how much net moistening occurs at a given level of the atmosphere over a wide area) are prohibitively expensive to measure routinely. ASR and the ARM Facility have pursued several approaches to this problem. For intensive field campaigns, where detailed data is most important, the ARM Facility incurs the significant expense of funding frequent balloon releases over a widely-dispersed array of sounding sites; this is currently the most complete method of characterizing the large-scale dynamical and thermodynamical environment around storm systems, for instance. When combined with wide-area precipitation data in a theoretical framework, large-scale mean vertical wind can be calculated. For routine operations, the ARM Facility continues to fine-tune methods for integrating wide-area precipitation radar data at the local sites (and other ancillary data sources that depend upon availability at each site) with the atmospheric state derived from reanalysis model runs that in turn assimilate routine ground-based and satellite data nationally and internationally. These integrated forcing data sets provide all of the important environmental variables needed to run a model over a limited size domain. Model calculations can then be compared with aerosol and cloud properties measured at a central site or averaged over the domain. The ASR program will continue to support this well-developed method of forcing models, in addition to actively developing new methods.

Because a goal of ASR is to develop models of aerosol and cloud processes that can be applied to climate models, it is vital to evaluate these process models under real-world conditions for a variety of regions and seasons. Regional atmosphere models representing the integrated set of all processes that determine aerosol and cloud properties provide *flexible frameworks* for developing and testing modules of individual processes. Regional models include cloud-resolving models, single-column models derived from a global atmosphere model, and chemical transport models. Integration of all aerosol and cloud processes is more straightforward if the effort is focused on a single modeling framework that can operate in any of these modes. Such frameworks already exist and are being extended to appropriately include land, ocean, and sea-ice surface processes. Ideally all investigators would adopt common frameworks so that the performance of candidate parameterizations of isolated processes can be compared with other parameterizations for the same conditions and parameterizations of other processes. A variety of cloud and aerosol modules can be supported within such a framework, with more detailed modules applied at fine spatial resolution serving as benchmarks for comparison with coarser resolution simulations using simplified modules designed for GCMs. The goal is to determine the minimum level of complexity needed to accurately represent climatically important aerosol and cloud processes in models. Data from field experiments are particularly well suited for evaluating cloud and aerosol processes simulated by regional models. These models can also be used to guide experiment design, determining optimal locations for surface sites and sampling strategies for aircraft flights.

A particular challenge for parameterization of atmospheric processes is a scalable modeling framework, which essentially constitutes *portability of parameterizations to models that operate on different space and time grid scales* (e.g., model simulations over the vastly different spatial scales depicted in Figure 4). Often, tuning of parameters is used to preserve model performance as grid cell size diverges from process-level scales; this tuning is, by necessity, specific to model scale. Frequently the tuning of parameters that have direct physical meaning, is both arbitrary and incompatible with any scalable modeling framework. Consider, for example, the critical droplet radius r_c beyond which cloud droplets enter the collection regime and rapidly grow to fall velocity size. Measurements have shown that drizzle often takes place within localized regions of cloud that are sub-grid to cloud resolving models. Averaging cloud liquid water content *L* over the full model grid cell can easily result in *L* values too small to support drizzle, leading many modelers to tune r_c to smaller values in order to match

observations. The preceding is but one example of what is a pervasive problem for atmospheric process modeling on the global scale. Ideally one would like to have scale-invariant parameterizations, but the route forward to their development is not clear-cut and will likely require bold and creative innovation. One approach is to use probability distribution functions (pdfs) based on ARM Facility cloud observation data sets, for example, to map from the local microphysical scale to a probabilistic representation of subgrid cloud properties at the large eddy, cloud resolving, and GCM scales. Another approach is to let the models themselves generate the statistics needed for the probabilistic representation of sub-grid properties, for instance either using ensemble model runs, to generate sufficient statistics for generating sub-grid pdfs, or through interpolation. A third approach is to adapt image-processing methods based on fractal interpolation and/or iterated functions systems, which are techniques used to provide "texture" at the sub-pixel scale of lower resolution images. While the best methods to achieve scale-invariant parameterization remain to be determined, this challenging problem is of such clear and vital importance that it will be an important focus of ASR model development.

Finally, advances in cloud parameterization need to be fully integrated with advances in aerosol parameterization. The centerpiece of this progress will be an emphasis on multi-moment aerosol and cloud schemes for GCMs. Success will depend upon understanding and parameterizing the processes that describe aerosol and cloud properties and upon linking aerosol and cloud life cycles.

3.2.2 Model Evaluation

ASR aims to bring *convergence to aerosol and cloud parameterizations* similar to that achieved for radiation parameterizations, which was a significant accomplishment of the ARM Program. This desire for convergence is an aggressive goal because complexities associated with cloud and aerosol life cycles and the associated processes are very high relative to those associated with radiative processes. In order to guide convergence of aerosol and cloud models, ASR will promote the development and improvement of integrated data sets, with which aerosol and cloud parameterizations and model fidelity for various atmospheric processes can be evaluated across the full range of model scales. ASR will also iteratively tailor ARM Facility data collection goals to optimize the simultaneous development of model diagnostics alongside integrated data sets.

Perhaps the single most important meeting point of measurements and models in the ASR program is at the level of *integrated data products*. These consist of a growing set of data streams that select one or more "best-estimate" of geophysical variables from a set of data streams from one or more instruments; such derived data streams are referred to within the program as "value-added products". The most widely used value-added product within the ARM Facility data set is the Active Remotely Sensed Clouds Locations product, which combines data from active remote sensors to produce an objective determination of hydrometeor height distributions, radar reflectivities, Doppler velocities, and Doppler spectral widths. A second, recently completed value-added product that is rapidly receiving wide use in the modeling community is the Climate Modeling Best Estimate, which is specifically tailored for use in evaluation of regional and global climate models. This data product contains hourly average best estimates of ten selected observational measurements (e.g., cloud fraction, surface radiation fluxes, total cloud cover, liquid water path, and precipitable water vapor) at the ARM Facility mid-latitude site. Also underway is the development of a new Radiatively Important Products Best Estimate data product that will include collocated radiation, aerosol, and cloud variables at high temporal and spatial resolution. The task of collating measurements in a systematic way would be extremely time-consuming if done individually by each modeling group accessing ASR data; efficient use of ASR data demands that this

process of providing polished end products be pursued. By far the most valuable data for model evaluation and improvement consist of data sets that contain more than one collocated variable.

At the global scale, it has long been desired to establish a set of metrics by which climate models can be evaluated, but progress toward this goal has been elusive. The meteorology community has wellestablished metrics for weather forecasts that are based on subsequent observations of the quantities they predict, thus ensuring that the metrics are relevant to the science goal of the models. An identical metricsbased approach cannot be taken for climate models for several reasons. First, climate models are asked to forecast many different things (forcings, feedbacks, regional impacts), and each of these may require a different set of metrics. Second, climate models forecast changes on longer time scales than those for which observations are available, and thus, unlike numerical weather prediction models, the utility of any metric cannot be definitively established. Third, many of the things that are most important for climate models to forecast well are too poorly observed, or observed over too short a time scale, to act as effective constraints. Previous attempts to define metrics have relied primarily on spatial distributions of mean quantities rather than temporal variations. One difficulty with this is that a simpler parameterization with more free parameters to tune may outperform a parameterization that tries to represent more of the actual physical interactions that may be important in a climate change. Finally, studies of variability of climate models have often identified a subset of models that perform the best, but are often unable to identify a parameterization approach that the successful models have in common, because the cloud and convection parameterizations interact with all other aspects of a GCM, in different ways in different models.

Given this complexity, ASR will focus on the specific task of defining and applying *observation-based diagnostics* that measure the fidelity with which models simulate aerosol and cloud processes. For representation of cloud properties, one approach will be to make use of the growing library of GEWEX Cloud System Study (GCSS) program case studies, several of which have been led by ARM Program scientists and are based upon ARM Facility observations. ASR and the ARM Facility will support major new field campaigns that will be suitable for expanding the number of well-observed case studies. Judiciously chosen case studies will continue to be used to evaluate specific cloud parameterizations in a more controlled setting, such as using regional models or single column model versions of GCMs that isolate grid-scale physics from dynamics in the larger GCM. Different parameterization approaches are sometimes incompatible with one other or with other aspects of the model in which they are embedded. Therefore, ASR will pursue a strategy of diagnosing how the different parameterizations for that case.

An important focus area for ASR model evaluation efforts will be the development and application of *instrument simulators*. Most remote-sensing instruments do not directly measure modeled variables (such as mass concentration of ice particles in clouds) but instead quantitatively infer the variable from measured radiative parameters. However, depending upon model type, model outputs may be sufficient to directly calculate quantities that are actually measured (e.g. visible and infrared radiances, radar reflectivity, and lidar backscatter signals). The modeling community has developed software packages known as "simulators" for this purpose. Simulators can have the advantage of avoiding some types of retrieval error that otherwise add to the error already inherent in the raw observations. The ISCCP Simulator developed by ARM scientists, which was the first such simulator, is now routinely used by many modeling groups. Simulators have been invaluable for comparing models with each other and to observations from remote sensing instruments, for pointing out systematic biases of climate models, and for analyzing cloud feedbacks. Development of simulators for existing and new ARM instruments will be a high priority for ASR.

4.0 Future Directions

This document outlines an aggressive and comprehensive plan that will greatly advance the understanding of the myriad processes that comprise the aerosol and cloud life cycles as well as the interactions among these processes. A tight coupling between ARM Facility observational capabilities and ASR scientific expertise is critical to the success of this research enterprise. However, to most effectively utilize the ARM Facility observations to advance the representation of atmospheric processes within numerical models as outlined in this plan, substantially larger budgets are required for both the ASR program and the ARM Facility. Specifically, expanded efforts are needed to produce integrated data sets that utilize the new observational tools provided by ARRA and to perform the analyses necessary to link, broaden, and integrate the research foci of the former ARM and ASP Programs. Development of integrated data sets and incorporation of these data sets into observational products and model improvements is the highest priority for growth within the program; however, if support for further activities becomes available, the activities outlined below will further contribute toward the ultimate goal of process-level understanding of the aerosol and cloud life cycles, their interactions, and reducing uncertainty in climate simulations and projections.

ASR will make large advances towards understanding the atmospheric processes that are needed to improve the accuracy of climate models with the wealth of data provided by the combination of ARM Facility fixed sites, mobile facility deployments, and deployments of the aerial facility. However, as indicated earlier, some atmospheric processes are more important and more readily observable, relative to others, in certain climatic regions and thus it is important to investigate the details of these processes in these regions. Through longstanding discussions, ASR has a plan to target specific regions and processes in the future if given the opportunity to do so.

There is a general consensus in the climate modeling community that the largest differences among predictions of future mean surface temperature from different climate models occur in the regions that are most heavily influenced by stratocumulus clouds on the west coasts of the various continents (Bony and Dufresne 2005, Figure 7). The importance of stratocumulus regions has been known for many years, and was one of the primary motivations for deploying the ARM Mobile Facility to the Azores for 18 months in 2009–2010. A recent workshop hosted by DOE recommended that if the ARM Facility were to establish additional long-term fixed sites, the highest priority should be given to placing one in the Azores due to the importance of characterizing the physical and radiative properties in these clouds and the processes that occur within them (ACRF 2007). This same report recommended that sites should be established (in relative order of priority) in Greenland to investigate the influence of Arctic clouds on the ice sheet, southeastern Asia to investigate aerosol influences on the monsoon, the Amazon rain forest to study deep tropical convection over land, and the mid-latitude southern hemisphere storm tracks to look at relatively clean clouds in an area that is difficult to simulate with numerical models. Many GCM predictions have also illustrated that the mean conditions at high latitudes are very sensitive to changes in anthropogenic emissions, and thus additional long-term data sets over the Arctic sea ice and in Antarctica would be desirable. In 2008, DOE hosted another workshop that reiterated the importance of shallow cumulus processes over the subtropical ocean and emphasized the need for further investigations in these regions (ARM 2008). These workshops have demonstrated that the need for observations in different climatic locations is great.



Figure 7. The regional contribution to intermodel spread in global mean cloud radiative feedback using simulations from multiple GCMs. Values close to zero indicate that there is little spread among the different model simulations, whereas larger absolute values indicate more spread. The regions that demonstrate the largest model-to-model differences in cloud radiative feedback are in the stratocumulus regions and at high latitudes. Figure from Soden et al. (2009).

The mobile facilities are extremely useful, and should be targeted to address these particular global and regional problems. However, these deployments are relatively short-term (order of 1 year), and thus the resulting data sets are best suited to sample the range of conditions that are experienced at each location rather than provide a robust data set from which climatologically representative statistics can be computed. The second mobile facility is being designed specifically for deployment in harsh marine environments, and will be used to directly tackle the large uncertainties in atmospheric processes in climate models that currently exist at many oceanic locations.

Some processes are best observed, or perhaps can only be observed, using airborne in situ techniques. The ARM Aerial Facility (AAF) is designed to make these measurements. However, previous campaigns have not fully sampled the various modes of variability that may drive the important atmospheric processes; these campaigns have typically been conducted in warm seasons during the daytime. The systematic observational capability that is being developed by the AAF should be used to more fully sample the entire diurnal, synoptic, and seasonal cycles that drive variability in the climate system. Future deployments of the AAF, like those of the mobile facilities, should be targeted directly on major problems that require the most attention, and be designed to capture these important modes of variability. Furthermore, the community needs to continue to develop new in situ instruments that can be operated from aircraft; this effort includes the miniaturization of instruments so that the instruments can be operated from smaller airframes, faster response instruments to improve spatial resolution, the hardening of laboratory instruments so they can be carried aloft, and the development of new techniques to measure geophysical variables that are currently not observed or not observed well.

In addition to new site locations and in situ capabilities, new remote sensing methods should be developed to enable better insights into many atmospheric processes. A wide range of geophysical variables needed to achieve ASR science objectives can be derived from current ARM observations,

especially considering the enormous increase in observational tools that were added to the program recently (Appendix A). However, additional important geophysical variables and processes are not well observed or perhaps can only be observed with detailed in situ observations, the latter of which do not lend themselves well to statistical analyses. Thus, it would be highly advantageous for ASR to develop new remote sensing methods to observe these elusive variables, including: profiles of aerosol absorption, profiles of CCN and IN concentrations, upper tropospheric humidity throughout the diurnal cycle in all conditions, liquid water content profiles in all clouds but especially in mixed-phase clouds, profiles of radiative and latent heating rate (currently these are only computed), four-dimensional (temporal and spatial) distributions of water vapor, and four-dimensional retrievals of aerosol properties. Developing the tools and retrievals to measure these variables is a sizeable challenge to the observational community. However, these measurements, together with those that are and can be made using the current ARM Facility instruments will further improve the ASR program's ability to characterize and understand the key processes that occur in the atmosphere along the aerosol-cloud-precipitation continuum.

Laboratory studies into the aerosol-cloud-precipitation continuum would greatly benefit from the consolidation of scattered specialized laboratories into a DOE National Atmospheric Laboratory user facility. The facility is motivated in large part by the benefit that would derive from having an aerosol and cloud chamber in which the complex set of conditions influencing clouds and aerosol are controlled. This plan has already identified a number of areas that would benefit from this facility, and in fact might require it to be fully addressed. Although ASR already supports some laboratory research (Section 3.1), it is compromised by the small size of the static chambers compared to the chambers used in several European facilities. The most prominent of these include the Leipzig Aerosol Cloud Interaction Simulator (LACIS), used for studies of aerosol-cloud interactions, the Karlsruhe Aerosol and Cloud Chamber (AIDA), and the Jülich aerosol chamber. The AIDA chamber uses an expansion cooling that enables it to be a center of excellence for ice nucleation and ice crystal growth investigations. The Jülich chamber is being used to investigate new particle formation involving isoprene—a hydrocarbon that dominants global emissions from vegetation—and for placing these studies in the context of global warming (Ziemann 2009). U.S. scientists have had to simulate these processes under less realistic conditions. What is clearly needed to advance understanding of cloud as well as aerosol formation is a dedicated consolidated laboratory facility in the U.S. capable of conducting experiments under controlled conditions. In additional to the aforementioned chamber-type studies, one can envisage including wind tunnels for designing probe inlets for in situ aircraft sampling of aerosol and hydrometeors (e.g., to address the problems associated with ice shattering at inlets), for ice fall velocity measurements, and for measuring the aerodynamic breakup of droplets and natural ice multiplication mechanisms. Such a facility would be a bold, breakthrough-science-type initiative that would lay a firm foundation for systematically improving cloud and aerosol process/properties modules as well as serve as an incubator for the development of new cloud and aerosol instruments designed for field deployment.

5.0 References

Ackerman, TP, and GM Stokes. 2003. "The Atmospheric Radiation Measurement Program." *Physics Today*, 56(1), 38-44.

ACRF. 2007. ARM Climate Research Facility Expansion workshop, Reston, VA, 31 Oct–1 Nov 2007. J Mather et al., eds. DOE-SC-ARM-0707. Available at http://www.arm.gov/publications/programdocs/doe-sc-arm-0707.pdf.

BERAC. 2004. A Reconfigured Atmospheric Science Program. U.S. Department of Energy, Biological and Environmental Research Advisory Committee. Available at http://www.science.doe.gov/ober/berac/ASP.pdf.

Bony, S, and J-L Dufresne. 2005. "Marine boundary layer clouds at the heart of tropical cloud feedback uncertainties in climate models." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 32, L20806, doi:10.1029/2005GRL023851.

Cess, RD., et al. 1989. "Interpretation of cloud-climate feedback as produced by 14 atmospheric general circulation models." *Science*, 245(4917), 513-516.

DOE. 1991. Identification, Recommendation, and Justification of Potential Locales for ARM Sites. DOE/ER-0495T. Available at http://www.arm.gov/publications/programdocs/doe-er-0495t.pdf

Fast, JD, SJ Ghan, and SE Schwartz. 2009. Modeling activities in the Department of Energy's Atmospheric Sciences Program. PNNL-18752, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA.

Ghan, SJ, and SE Schwartz. 2007. "Aerosol properties and processes: A path from field and laboratory measurements to global climate models." *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 88, 1059-1083.

IPCC. 2007a. Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Solomon, S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M.Tignor and H.L. Miller (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.

IPCC. 2007b. Technical Summary. In: Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Solomon, S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M. Tignor and H.L. Miller (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.

Khain, AP. 2009. "Notes on state-of-the-art investigations of aerosol effects on precipitation: a critical review." *Environmental Research Letters*, 4, 015004, doi:10.1088/1748-9326/4/1/015004.

Soden, BJ, GA Vecchi, and IM Held. 2009. "An analysis of cloud feedbacks in coupled oceanatmosphere models." *Geophysical Research Letters*, submitted. Stokes, GM, and SE Schwartz. 1994. "The Atmospheric Radiation Measurement (ARM) Program: Programmatic background and design of the Cloud and Radiation Testbed." *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 75, 1201-1221.

Trenberth, KE, JT Fasullo, and J Kiehl. 2009. "Earth's global energy budget." *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 90, 311-323, doi:10.1175/2008BAMS2634.1.

Ziemann, PJ. 2009. "Atmospheric chemistry: Thwarting the seeds of clouds." *Nature*, 461, 353-354, doi:10.1038/461353a.

Appendix A ARM Instrumentation

The ARM Climate Research Facility has a wide arrange of in situ and remote sensing tools that are able to provide a detailed characterization of the cloud, aerosol, precipitation, dynamic, thermodynamic, and radiative properties of the atmosphere. The ARM Facility was greatly enhanced by the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA), which allowed some critical but aging instruments to be replaced with more modern versions and providing new capability to observe properties and processes that were unable to be observed before.

The following table provides one view of the ARM instrumentation that will be used by the ASR program. The new capability provided by ARRA is indicated in red; note that in some cases a new instrument was added to the entire facility, whereas in others an instrument already existed at some ARM sites and was added to other sites that did not have that instrument. The table indicates the primary variables that the instruments measure and the important geophysical variables that can be derived or retrieved from these measurements. Note that this table does not include a list of geophysical variables that can be derived using a combination of data from multiple instruments.

The various ARM sites are: SGP – Southern Great Plains; TWP – Tropical Western Pacific; NSA – North Slope of Alaska; AMF – ARM Mobile Facility (refers to both here); AAF – ARM Aerial Facility; and MAOS – Mobile Aerosol Observing System. Instruments marked with a dagger (†) are replacements/upgrades of aging systems that were nearing the end of their lifetimes.

Instrument	Location	Primary Variables Measured	Primary Geophysical Variables Derived
Millimeter-wave cloud radar	SGP, NSA, TWP, AMF	8.6 mm wavelength radar reflectivity, Doppler velocity, Doppler spectral width	Cloud boundaries, cloud liquid and ice water content profiles, cloud particle motion
Millimeter-wave cloud radar	AMF	3.0 mm wavelength radar reflectivity, Doppler velocity, Doppler spectral width	Cloud boundaries, cloud liquid and ice water content profiles, cloud particle motion
Scanning dual- frequency cloud radar	SGP, NSA, AMF	8.6 mm and 3.0 mm wavelength radar reflectivity, Doppler velocity, Doppler spectral width, scans in both elevation and azimuth	Cloud boundaries, cloud liquid and ice water content profiles, cloud particle motion, cloud liquid water content profiles
Scanning dual- frequency cloud radar	TWP, AMF	3 cm and 8.6 mm wavelength radar reflectivity, Doppler velocity, Doppler spectral width, scans in both elevation and azimuth	Cloud boundaries, cloud liquid and ice water content profiles, cloud particle motion, cloud liquid water content profiles
Scanning precipitation radar	SGP, NSA, TWP, AMF	Different wavelengths for different sites (3 to 8 cm), profiles of radar reflectivity, Doppler velocity, and Doppler spectral width, scans in elevation and azimuth	Rain rate, cloud motion

Instrument	Location	Primary Variables Measured	Primary Geophysical Variables Derived
Radar wind profilers	SGP, NSA, TWP, AMF, MAOS	UHF wavelength (~1000 MHz) signal to noise ratio profiles, wind speed and direction profiles	Boundary layer depth
Radiosonde	SGP, NSA, TWP, AMF	Profiles of temperature, humidity, wind direction, wind speed, and pressure	Precipitable water vapor
Raman Lidar	SGP, TWP	Water vapor mixing ratio profiles, aerosol and cloud scattering and extinction profiles, depolarization profiles	Relative humidity profiles, cloud base height
Sonic detection and ranging system	MAOS	Wind profiles	
Doppler wind lidar	SGP, TWP, AMF	Profiles of vertical velocity	Boundary layer turbulence, updraft velocity
High-spectral- resolution lidar	NSA, AMF	Profiles of aerosol and cloud backscatter and extinction, depolarization ratio	Cloud boundaries, cloud optical depth, cloud phase
Micropulse lidar	SGP, NSA, TWP, AMF†	Lidar backscatter profiles at 532 nm, depolarization profiles	Cloud boundaries, cloud optical depth, cloud phase
Ceilometer	SGP, NSA, TWP, AMF†	Cloud base height below 7 km	
Microwave radiometer	SGP, NSA, TWP, AMF†	Downwelling microwave brightness temperature at 23.8, 31.4, and 90.0 GHz	Precipitable water vapor, cloud liquid water path
Low water vapor microwave radiometer	NSA	Downwelling microwave brightness temperature at ± 1 , 3, 7, 12 GHz from the 183.3 GHz water vapor line	Precipitable water vapor in very dry conditions, liquid water path
Microwave radiometer profiler	SGP, AMF	Downwelling microwave brightness temperature at 12 frequencies between 22.2 and 58 GHz	Precipitable water vapor, liquid water path, low-vertical-resolution profiles of water vapor and temperature
Low water vapor microwave profiler	NSA	Downwelling microwave brightness temperature at 15 frequencies between 170 and 183.3 GHz	Precipitable water vapor in very dry conditions, liquid water path, low-vertical- resolution profiles of water vapor in dry conditions
Atmospheric emitted radiance interferometer	SGP, NSA, TWP, AMF†	Downwelling infrared radiance from 3-19 µm at high spectral resolution	Temperature and humidity profiles, cloud optical depth, cloud particle effective radius
Infrared thermometer	SGP, NSA, TWP, AMF	Downwelling infrared radiance at 10 μ m, upwelling infrared radiance at 10 μ m	Surface skin temperature

Instrument	Location	Primary Variables Measured	Primary Geophysical Variables Derived
Total sky imager	SGP, NSA, TWP, AMF	Hemispheric visible sky images	Cloud fraction
Longwave broadband radiometers	SGP, NSA, TWP, AMF	Downwelling and upwelling hemispheric infrared flux (4-50 µm)	Infrared cloud forcing and effective cloud fraction
Shortwave broadband radiometers	SGP, NSA, TWP, AMF	Downwelling hemispheric diffuse and direct-beam visible/near- infrared flux (0.3 - 4 µm), upwelling hemispheric visible/near-infrared flux	Visible/near-infrared cloud forcing and effective cloud fraction
Normal-incidence multi-filter radiometer	SGP	Direct beam irradiance in 6 10-nm wide channels from 440 nm to 940 nm	Aerosol optical depth, aerosol Angstrom coefficient, precipitable water vapor
Multi-filter rotating shadowband radiometer	SGP, NSA, TWP, AMF	Downwelling hemispheric diffuse and total irradiance in 6 10-nm wide channels from 440 nm to 940 nm	Aerosol optical depth, aerosol Angstrom coefficient, precipitable water vapor
Shortwave spectrometer	SGP	Downwelling visible/near-infrared radiance from 300 to 1800 nm at 4- 8 nm spectral resolution	Aerosol and cloud optical depth
Solar spectrometer	SGP, AMF2	Solar spectral radiance and irradiance	Aerosol and cloud optical depth
Narrow field-of- view radiometer	AMF	Downwelling zenith radiance at 660 and 870 nm	Cloud optical depth, effective cloud fraction
Cimel sunphotometer	SGP, NSA, TWP, AMF†	Downwelling sky radiance and solar irradiance in 6 narrow spectral channels from 340 nm to 1020 nm	Aerosol optical depth, aerosol Angstrom coefficient, aerosol size distribution, aerosol single scatter albedo
Aerosol observing system	SGP, NSA, TWP, AMF, MAOS, AAF†	Surface-based in situ measurements of aerosol scattering and backscattering as a function of relative humidity, absorption, number concentration, size distribution, and hygroscopic growth, tandem differential mobility analyzer, multi- supersaturation cloud condensation nuclei counter	Aerosol single scatter albedo, aerosol asymmetry parameter, hygroscopic growth
Particle mass spectrometers	SGP, TWP MAOS, AAF	Inorganic and volatile organic aerosol chemical composition	
Aircraft Integrated Meteorological Measurement System	AAF	5-port air motion sensing: true air speed, altitude, angle-of-attack, side-slip - and temperature, relative humidity	

Instrument	Location	Primary Variables Measured	Primary Geophysical Variables Derived
Particle into liquid sampler	MAOS, AAF	Aerosol chemical composition, water soluble organic carbon	
Scanning mobility particle sizer	MAOS, AAF	Aerosol size distribution from 15 nm to 450 nm	
Cloud in situ probes	AAF	Cloud droplet size distribution, cloud particle images, cloud water content, cloud particle phase	
Proton transfer reaction mass spectrometer	MAOS	Gaseous organic compounds	
Ozone	MAOS, AAF, TWP	Ozone concentration	
Trace gas precursors	MAOS, AAF	Carbon monoxide, sulfur dioxide, nitrous oxide, nitrogen dioxide	
Meteorological observations	SGP, NSA, TWP, AMF, MAOS†	Surface- and tower-based observations of pressure, temperature, relative humidity, wind speed, wind direction, and precipitation amount	
2-Dimensional Video Disdrometer (2DVD)	TWP, AMF, MAOS	Drop size distributions, precipitation	Radar reflectivity, liquid water content
Disdrometer	SGP, TWP†	Surface-based rain droplet size distribution, rain rate	Radar reflectivity, liquid water content
Optical rain gauge	SGP	Surface-base rain rate and accumulation	
Eddy correlation flux measurement systems	SGP, AMF, TWP, NSA†	Surface latent heat flux, surface sensible heat flux, atmospheric turbulence, carbon dioxide flux	
Energy balance Bowen ratio stations	SGP	Surface latent heat flux, surface sensible heat flux	Bulk aerodynamic fluxes
Soil water and temperature system	SGP	Soil moisture and temperature measurements at 6 depths from 5 cm to 125 cm	

Appendix B Accomplishments of the ARM and ASP Programs

The goal of this appendix is to provide one view of the accomplishments of the DOE observation-based climate research programs. These contributions to climate change research would not be possible without the high quality, long-term data provided by the ARM Climate Research Facility and the laboratory and periodic field studies performed by the ASP Program. The ASR website (at http://asr.science.energy.gov) will provide a comprehensive list of research performed under the auspices of the ARM and ASP programs, including a publications database that lists nearly 2000 peer-reviewed journal articles whose authors have made use of the ARM and ASP data for climate research. While the accomplishments of the two programs are too numerous to mention here, this appendix summarizes several of the more important contributions.

Establishing a new standard for climate research observations. ARM was the first climate research program to deploy a suite of cutting-edge instrumentation for obtaining continuous measurements of cloud and aerosol properties (Ackerman and Stokes 2003). This strategy revolutionized our ability to collect long-term statistics of detailed cloud properties and now serves as a model for programs around the world (Clothiaux et al. 2000; Kollias et al. 2007; Illingworth et al. 2007). The ARM Facility paradigm of long-term continuous measurements is essential to the enhancement and evaluation of climate models that must simulate the evolution of atmospheric properties for long continuous periods, from decades to centuries. This measurement approach permits unparalleled examination of atmospheric process behavior and model performance evaluation over extended periods and a wide range of meteorological conditions.

Obtaining aerial measurements to supplement ground-based

observations. Observations at fixed and mobile sites are supplemented periodically with observations from aircraft. These data have yielded insights into a range of science issues including the absorption of radiation by clouds (e.g., Valero et al., 2003), aerosol properties (e.g., Andrews et al. 2004; Berg et al. 2009), and cloud properties (e.g., Um et al. 2009). Detailed cloud properties such as ice crystal sizes are critical because they dictate the life cycle of a cloud and its interaction with radiation. Airborne measurements obtained during ARM Facility field campaigns in the Arctic (McFarquhar and Cober 2004), the tropics (May et al. 2008), and mid-latitudes (Mace et al. 2002) revealed new information about ice crystal sizes and shapes in various cloud types. Several aircraft campaigns have focused on the life cycle of aerosol particles in the atmosphere, in order to better understand the evolution



A Twin Otter flying taking off to fly a routine mission over the SGP during a long-term experiment in 2009.

of the chemical and microphysical properties (e.g., Molina et al. 2008; Ferrare et al. 2006). Recently, the program has begun long-term airborne (multi-month) campaigns; these routine missions allow for improved gathering of statistics and sampling of the range of natural conditions. These observations led to greatly improved techniques for retrieving cloud and aerosol properties from the ground, as well as providing insight into the processes occurring within the atmosphere.

Achieving significant improvement in water vapor measurements. While carbon dioxide is a key contributor to climate change, the dominant greenhouse gas in the Earth's atmosphere is water vapor. Using detailed ARM Facility measurements of water vapor and associated radiative transfer calculations, ASR scientists have reduced uncertainty in water vapor measurements from 13% to less than 4% during the past decade (Revercomb et al. 2003, Turner et al. 2003). Large improvements in the measurement of upper tropospheric humidity, both by radiosondes and using remote sensors such as Raman lidar, have also been realized over the last decade (Ferrare et al. 2004, Soden et al. 2004); these improved observations allow the investigation of the frequency of supersaturation in the upper troposphere and the connection with cirrus nucleation (Comstock et al. 2004).

Improved detailed models of radiation transfer. Spectrally resolved ARM Facility radiation measurements and improved water vapor observations have been central to improvements in the parameterization of the amount of longwave radiation absorbed by the water vapor continuum (Clough et al. 1989). These improvements, generally from small incremental changes, were made primarily in the water vapor self- and foreign-broadened continuum and the water vapor absorption line parameters. These changes, when taken as a whole, result in up to a 6 W/m2 improvement in the modeled clear-sky downwelling longwave radiative flux at the surface, as well as significantly better agreement with spectral observations, resulting in the agreement between theory and observation of better than 1% (Turner et al. 2004). Similar advancements have been made to the detailed shortwave radiative transfer models, with the observations demonstrating that there are no significant unknown gaseous absorbers in the shortwave or longwave portions of the spectrum (Mlawer et al. 1998, Ackerman et al. 2003). Current shortwave radiative transfer models can now compute the clear sky downwelling shortwave flux with an accuracy of better than 2% (Michalsky et al. 2006). The ASR program also developed a method that has been proposed to the World Meteorological Organization as a standard for diffuse horizontal shortwave irradiance (Michalsky et al. 2007).



The downwelling infrared radiance at the SGP site, together with observed minus computed radiance residuals for two cases: pre-ARM (circa 1990) in black, and circa 2003 in red.

Radiative heating in the upper troposphere. Infrared radiation is associated with wavelengths from approximately 4 to 100 μ m. The accuracy of infrared radiative transfer models in the 4-15 μ m region is better than 1% (Turner et al. 2004); however, the far-infrared (wavelengths longer than 15 μ m) is very uncertain, due to lack of spectrally resolved measurements in this band and strong water vapor absorption making the spectral region opaque at most locations. The radiative heating of the middle and upper troposphere is dominated by emission from the far-infrared, and inaccuracies in radiative transfer models in this spectral region affect the vertical motion of the atmosphere (and hence the general circulation) as well as the total outgoing longwave radiation of the planet. To collect the data needed to evaluate and improve radiative transfer models in the far-infrared, scientists conducted the Radiative Heating in Underexplored Bands Campaigns (RHUBC) (Turner and Mlawer, 2009). Recently developed spectrally resolved far-infrared radiance instruments and very sensitive water vapor radiometers were deployed at the ARM Facility site in Barrow and at a high-altitude site (above 5 km mean sea level). While the analysis of these data sets is still ongoing, there have already been important modifications to spectral

absorption models that translate directly into better water vapor retrievals and improved ability to simulate the radiative transfer in the far-infrared (Payne et al. 2008, Delamere et al. 2009).

Radiative heating of the atmosphere by clouds. Clouds can have a major effect on the radiative heating of the atmosphere. To understand the influence of clouds, scientists must understand the cloud radiative heating effect on the general circulation of the atmosphere. With the retrieval of cloud properties on a continuous basis and the improvement of radiative transfer models, ASR scientists have derived climatologies of the vertical profiles of radiative heating at the ARM Facility sites. These heating rate profiles are essential for testing radiation and cloud parameterizations in GCMs, as they provide a strong constraint on the vertical distribution of heating within the atmospheric column. Work in this area has provided a remarkably detailed data set for studying the redistribution of radiative energy in the atmosphere (Mace et al. 2006; Mace and Benson 2008; Mather et al. 2007), making it possible to evaluate cloud and radiative profiles in climate models (McFarlane et al. 2007), and allowing the determination of the characteristic radiative heating profile associated with different cloud types (Mather and McFarlane 2009).

Implementing a major improvement in the radiative effects of clouds in GCMs. Climate models have a particularly difficult time representing complex cloud systems in a relatively coarsely resolved spatial domain. Examination of cloud fields observed at the ARM Facility sites, combined with efforts to represent the radiative effects of those cloud fields, led to the development of a new cloud radiation scheme adopted for use in several climate models and weather forecasting models (Pincus et al. 2003, 2006; Räisänen et al. 2005, 2007; Morcrette et al. 2008). This approach uses stochastic methods to account for the clouds in a partially cloudy atmosphere, and the results demonstrate much better agreement with the observed fluxes than previous methods.

Improving the representation of radiation in climate models. ASR scientists used ARM Facility observations to significantly improve calculations of atmospheric distribution of radiant energy. These improvements are encapsulated in the Rapid Radiative Transfer Model (Mlawer et al. 1997). Because this model offers greater accuracy and efficiency, it has been incorporated into several climate and numerical weather prediction models (Iacono et al. 2000; Morcrette et al. 2008). Advancements in radiation calculations in these global models have led to improved forecasts of temperature and humidity in the upper atmosphere (Iacono et al. 2003).

Providing unique observations of the radiative impact of aerosols. While the effect of greenhouse gases is well characterized in GCMs, uncertainty remains regarding the effect of aerosols, such as dust and smoke. This is particularly true regarding the effect aerosols have on radiation transfer in the atmosphere, either by redirecting incoming solar radiation back into space or by redirecting outgoing infrared radiation toward the surface. Extensive aerosol observations from the ARM Facility sites and ARM Mobile Facility have quantified the impact of aerosols on the radiation budget in diverse climatic regions (e.g., Ferrare et al. 2006). ARM made the first column radiation absorption measurements of the impacts of Saharan dust (Slingo et al. 2006).

Atmospheric radiative balance in the subtropics. In 2006, the AMF was deployed in Niamey, Niger for the ARM campaign Radiative Divergence Using AMF, GERB, and AMMA Stations, or RADAGAST (Miller and Slingo, 2007). This campaign was part of a large, multi-year international field program,

titled the African Monsoon Multidisciplinary Analyses (AMMA) Project. RADAGAST was designed to supply continuous measurements of the broadband upward and downward solar and thermal radiative fluxes at the surface. When combined with corresponding measurements from the Geostationary Earth Radiation Budget (GERB) instrument on a European satellite, these measurements provide the first well sampled direct estimates of the energy balance across the atmosphere. RADAGAST played a major role in linking multi-scale observations, data analysis, and modeling, allowing both weather and climate models to better predict the formation and dynamics of the West African monsoon.

The RADAGAST experiment provided a unique data set to characterize the thermodynamic, radiative, and aerosol characteristics of the Niamev



In March 2006, the ARM Mobile Facility and satellite instruments made the first simultaneous observations of a major dust storm from space and the ground, allowing researchers to test their understanding of how dust affects the radiant energy budget of the atmospheric column.

region (Slingo et al. 2008, 2009). A huge dust storm was observed during the campaign with a dust optical depth larger than 3, resulting in solar heating of the atmosphere of over 400 W/m2 (Slingo et al. 2006). RADAGAST data demonstrated that dry season aerosols exhibited different characteristics when compared to wet season aerosols, and that the characteristics of a dust-laden aerosol are quite different from a smoke-laden aerosol (Turner 2008; McFarlane et al. 2009), both of which had significant impacts on the seasonal energy balance at the surface (Miller et al. 2009a).

The sensitivity of direct aerosol radiative forcing. Aerosol direct radiative forcing depends on aerosol optical properties (optical depth, single scattering albedo, and asymmetry parameter) and on the surface albedo in ultraviolet-visible and shortwave infrared spectral ranges. Uncertainties in measurements in these input parameters produce uncertainty in estimates of the aerosol direct radiative forcing. To quantify this uncertainty, McComiskey et al. (2008) calculated the aerosol radiative forcing at the top of the atmosphere and surface for conditions typical at the three ARM Facility permanent sites: Tropical Western Pacific (TWP), Southern Great Plains (SGP), and North Slope of Alaska (NSA), using values of the parameters typical for each site. For measurement uncertainties used in the study, uncertainty in total modeled forcing at the top of the atmosphere ranges from approximately 0.6 to 1.1 W m-2.

Ubiquity and dominance of oxygenated species in organic aerosols. A new aerosol mass spectrometer (developed in part with support from ASP and the DOE SBIR program) that permits examination of the organic and inorganic mass concentration and composition of size-selected or total aerosol has been used in multiple field studies over much of the Northern Hemisphere. These measurements have led to two generalizations about aerosol composition that greatly extend knowledge of aerosol composition and understanding of the processes controlling this composition. First, measurements with the aerosol mass spectrometer by many investigators show that organics are the major or dominant aerosol constituent at

urban, downwind-urban, and rural locations throughout the anthropogenically influenced Northern Hemisphere. Second, the organic fraction of the aerosol increases with increasing distance from urban sources, suggesting anthropogenic enhancement of the organic material. Examination of relative abundances of specific mass fragments that can be associated with primary versus secondary aerosol substances demonstrates the increase in secondary material with distance from urban emission sources (Zhang et al. 2007).



Aerosol composition measured at the surface at various locations around the world (Zhang et al. 2007).

Secondary organic aerosol production in a mega-city plume. ASR research has demonstrated major limitations in current understanding of secondary organic aerosol (SOA) formation. Aircraft measurements of the amount and composition of aerosol during the 2006 MAX-MEX field campaign in Mexico City, normalized to mixing ratio of carbon monoxide (a conservative tracer of urban emissions) to account for dilution, were stratified according to photochemical age, in order to examine atmospheric evolution (Kleinman et al., 2007, 2008) yielding the time development of aerosol properties. SOA formation causes a 5-fold increase in organic aerosol in less than one day. The measured increase in organic aerosol exceeds the modeled increase (based on measured volatile organic carbon) 10-fold. The increase is nearly identical to that observed in the eastern U.S., despite the expectation that SOA yields should increase more in areas with higher concentrations of aerosol procursors.



Left: Mass concentrations of aerosol species, normalized to excess CO, from aircraft measurements in the Mexico City Plume throughout the 2006 MAX-MEX field campaign as function of photochemical age. Right: similar plot for aerosol volume and accumulation mode number concentration with linear regression lines. Volume and number scales are proportional, both indicating a ~5-fold increase with age over period corresponding to approximately one day atmospheric residence time.

New processes for formation and loss of secondary organic aerosol. As noted in the paragraphs above, an important issue driving scientific uncertainty in aerosol forcing is the observed production of secondary organic aerosol mass in substantially greater quantities than can be explained by current models. Several ASP laboratory studies were undertaken to address this discrepancy; some of the major findings are described in the following paragraphs.

Because of its low molecular weight, the biogenic precursor isoprene has not previously been considered a major source of SOA; however, recent laboratory studies by ASP investigators have shown a small yield of SOA from isoprene oxidation. Because of isoprene's large source strength in deciduous forests, even a small yield of SOA could constitute a major source of SOA. Examination of SOA from isoprene in a global chemical transport model showed substantial enhancement of SOA in forested regions at the surface and much greater relative enhancement in the free troposphere (Henze and Seinfeld 2006). More recent work (Paulot et al., 2009) shows a previously unrecognized pathway from isoprene emissions to SOA formation. Global simulations show an enormous flux—nearly 100 teragrams of carbon per year—to the atmosphere, providing a missing link tying the gas-phase degradation of isoprene to the observed formation of organic aerosols. This work suggests a potential resolution of the large discrepancy between measurement and model-based estimates of SOA formation and also suggests a possible role of these organic aerosols as cloud condensation nuclei.

Incorporating both direct and indirect effects of particles on climate requires a full understanding of the processes that lead to SOA formation as well as possible loss processes. ASR researchers discovered a new process for formation of SOA that involves the oxidation of organics due to photochemistry in and at the surface of particles. Their research showed that α -pinene, a major SOA precursor through its reactions with O3 and to a lesser extent OH and NO3, was oxidized at the air-water interface of nitrate solutions during photolysis (Yu et al. 2008 a,b). This process led to the formation of a number of products in the particles, including pinic and pinonic acids and trans-sobrerol.

This new mechanism of SOA formation may be related to the observation by Smith et al. (2008) that demonstrated that nitrate and organics were both significant components of the smallest particles yet to be analyzed in air (sizes as small as 6 nm). Recent theoretical studies (Miller et al. 2009b) show that nitrate ions in small clusters, up to ~300 water molecules, prefer to reside at the air-water interface where this photochemistry will be enhanced. These small clusters approach the size of new particles as they form, suggesting that this newly discovered mechanism for SOA formation may be important during nucleation and initial particle growth.

A laboratory study (Song et al. 2007) of SOA formation from oxidation of α -pinene (a major biogenic SOA precursor gas) revealed a major discrepancy with a semi-empirical approach commonly used to represent SOA formation in global aerosol models. The presence of primary organic aerosol (POA) seed particles was found not to enhance the SOA yields. However, in contrast to the mass yields, the seed particles had a great effect on the aerosol dynamics, as reflected in the particle size distributions. If these results are found to apply to other biogenic SOA precursors, then anthropogenic POA emissions would have a much lower direct impact on the global biogenic SOA mass budget than previously thought. However, they could potentially decrease the number concentrations of purely biogenic SOA particles in forested regions impacted by urban sources.

Model for Simulating Aerosol Interactions and Chemistry. An ongoing priority of ASR is to improve and implement model descriptions of major atmospheric processes. In this regard, atmospheric aerosol chemistry is especially challenging. The coupled ordinary differential equations for dynamic gas-particle mass transfer are extremely "stiff." Consequently, accurate numerical models of aerosol mass transfer are computationally very expensive to run. ASR Scientists have overcome these limitations with a new aerosol model called MOSAIC (Zaveri et al. 2008). It uses a mass-transfer solver called "Adaptive Step Time-split Euler Method," or ASTEM. Several performance tests showed MOSAIC to exhibit excellent agreement with a benchmark version of the model that used a rigorous solver for integrating the stiff equations. In addition, MOSAIC/ASTEM was found to be ~100 times faster than the rigorous solver, and the steady-state MOSAIC results for monodisperse aerosol test cases were found to be in excellent agreement with those obtained with the benchmark equilibrium model, the Aerosol Inorganics Model. These results showed that MOSAIC is extremely efficient without compromising accuracy, and therefore is highly attractive for use in regional/global aerosol models (e.g., Chapman et al. 2008).

Interactions of Aerosols with water vapor and cloud processes. The spectrum of the effects that aerosol indirect effects have on climate is thought to be of greater magnitude and certainly of greater uncertainty than aerosol direct forcing effects. Accordingly, the interaction of atmospheric aerosols with water vapor and clouds is a major focus of effort for ASR. The following paragraphs highlight several program accomplishments in this important area.

Impact of organic coatings on hygroscopic salt particles. In ASR laboratory studies, the presence of even a thin, sub-monolayer amount of organics on deliquesced NaNO3 particles was shown to significantly increase water retention (Zelenyuk et al., 2009). This resulted in smaller measured particle densities than expected for NaNO3, even at amounts of organics too small to be seen by single particle mass spectrometry. This dramatic effect of an undetectable sub-monolayer amount of organics on particles has important implications for interpretation of the measurements of density and composition of airborne particles. In addition, water retention and formation of organic shells can potentially impact light scattering by these particles, as well as their ability to act as cloud condensation nuclei (CCN).

Formation of CCN from secondary organic aerosol. Smith et al. (2008) measured the composition, hygroscopicity, and CCN activation of small aerosol particles above Mexico City. New particle formation, identified by a great increase in concentration of particles below 10 nm diameter, was attributed to photochemical activity triggered by ultraviolet radiation with a composition dominated by organics. Prior to the new particle formation event, measurements of hygroscopic growth showed that particles were quite hydrophobic, increasing in diameter by a factor of only 1.1 as relative humidity was increased to 90%. Few of the 40 nm particles could activate into cloud droplets even at supersaturations as high as 1%. During the event, however, the growth factor jumped to 1.7, typical of highly hygroscopic substances such as ammonium sulfate, and 40 nm particles could activate at 0.5% supersaturation. This result shows that the freshly nucleated particles can rapidly grow into the size range that is effective as CCN and, despite being comprised mostly of organics, can be highly hygroscopic and highly efficient as CCN, challenging conventional thinking that CCN are predominantly inorganic and that organics suppress cloud droplet formation.

Closure study on CCN concentration. Most current physically based attempts to represent aerosol effects on warm clouds are based upon Kohler theory, which expresses the critical supersaturation for activation of an aerosol particle as a function of its diameter and hygroscopicity. To test Kohler theory, Wang et al. (2008) used data taken on nine aircraft flights during the ASP Marine Stratus Experiment off the coast of northern California. The accuracy of Kohler theory was examined by comparing calculated and measured number concentrations of cloud condensation nuclei CCN. For aerosol with organics volume fraction up to 70%, such as the marine boundary layer and free troposphere aerosols, CCN concentration was found to be insensitive to the hygroscopicity of the organics and can be accurately calculated with a constant hygroscopicity for all organic species. However, for the aerosol within thin layers above clouds, for which organics contributed up to 90% of the total aerosol volume, an accurate knowledge of the overall organic hygroscopicity was required to accurately calculate CCN concentrations.

The first ground-based remotely sensed evidence of indirect aerosol impacts on clouds. The first aerosol indirect effect of suspended atmospheric particles on the microphysics of clouds occurs when an increase in the number of aerosol or CCN within a cloud causes a decrease in the average cloud droplet size, reflecting more solar energy to space. The first ground-based remote sensing measurements of this phenomenon were made at the SGP site (Feingold et al. 2003). A more detailed look at this indirect effect was performed during the May 2003 Aerosol IOP, a field campaign conducted at the SGP site, in which both in situ and remote sensing instruments were available to measure aerosol and cloud parameters. The measurements confirmed the presence of the first aerosol indirect effect, but also showed that the methodology used for retrieving droplet size and the proxy used for aerosol, or CCN, concentration strongly affected the magnitude of the drop size response to changes in aerosol (Feingold et al. 2006). These results have guided additional studies that have used longer-term ground-based data sets to quantify the aerosol indirect effect (Kim et al. 2008; McComiskey et al. 2009). Additionally, data from the Aerosol IOP were used to predict CCN concentration at cloud altitude from ground-based in situ remote sensing observations (Ghan et al. 2006).

Quantifying the radiative impact of aerosols on small liquid water clouds. Thin clouds with a liquid water path (LWP) below 50 g/m2 cover approximately 30% of the globe, playing an important role in the Earth's radiation budget. Radiative fluxes at the Earth's surface and top of atmosphere (TOA) are very sensitive to LWP variation when the LWP becomes smaller than ~50 g/m2 (Turner et al. 2007). Thus,

aerosol effects on thin clouds can substantially impact the variation of global radiative forcing if LWP changes. In cases of thin warm stratocumulus clouds, increased aerosols lead to increased cloud droplet number concentration, providing increased surface area of droplets where water vapor condenses. This increases condensation, and thus condensational heating, producing stronger updrafts and leading to an increased LWP with increased aerosols in cases where precipitation reaches the surface (Lee et al. 2009). The resulting change in the size of the cloud droplets also has a significant impact on the radiative flux at the cloud level, as well as at the surface and top of the atmosphere. In a case with no surface precipitation, LWP decreases with increases in aerosols. In this case, most precipitation evaporates just below the cloud base. With decreasing aerosols, precipitation increases and leads to increasing evaporation, thereby increasing instability around cloud base. However, there are many other factors besides aerosol concentration that influence cloud development, such as cloud-scale vertical motions and entrainment. Therefore, it is challenging to develop robust statistics on the first aerosol indirect effect on clouds (Lu et al. 2007).

Identification of an aerosol indirect effect in the

longwave. At the NSA site, ASR scientists used ARM Facility observations to demonstrate that enhanced aerosol concentrations cause cloud droplets to be smaller and more numerous within clouds of fixed water amount, thereby affecting the longwave radiative fluxes (most studies of the aerosol indirect effect focus solely on the shortwave radiative impact). A 6-year analysis at the NSA site found that this process can make clouds more opaque, causing them to emit more thermal energy to the surface (Lubin and Vogelmann 2006). This insight is significant for understanding the Arctic energy balance.



The larger aerosol concentration results in smaller cloud droplets, which increase the emission of the cloud towards the surface when the cloud is semi-transparent in the infrared.

Arctic cloud-aerosol interactions. Clouds play a

particularly important role in the surface energy balance

in the Arctic and are difficult to model. Several recent studies suggest that the Arctic climate is more sensitive to changes in climate forcing than other regions on Earth, while global climate models are less reliable in this region (ACIA 2004). Data from the highly successful Mixed-Phase Arctic Cloud Experiment (M-PACE, Verlinde et al. 2007) documented the microphysical structure of Arctic mixed-phase clouds, which typically consist of a stratiform layer of supercooled liquid water from which ice crystals form and precipitate (e.g., McFarquhar et al. 2007). Cloud water and ice were observed to co-vary directly with in-cloud vertical velocities, suggesting important microphysical linkages between the formation of cloud ice and liquid water in these clouds (Shupe et al. 2008).

M-PACE measurements also demonstrated that the number of ice nuclei in the region is much lower than assumed in standard climate models, which impacts the ability of these models to properly simulate the clouds and thus radiant energy fluxes (Prenni et al. 2006). However, even when accounting for a high degree of experimental uncertainty, the number of ice crystals measured during M-PACE could not be explained with measured ice nuclei and known ice formation mechanisms, suggesting that some ice nuclei may not be detectable by current instruments and/or that large-scale numerical weather prediction and global climate models may lack representation of some dominant ice formation mechanisms (Fridlind et al. 2007, Morrison et al. 2008, Fan et al. 2009). An international model intercomparison study based

on M-PACE data, which attracted the largest number of participants in such a study to date, showed that predictions from all types of models differed widely from one another and from the observations under common Arctic conditions (Klein et al., 2009; Morrison et al., 2009). Key differences among model sensitivities to ice nucleus concentration were identified as attributable to ice habit and fall speed specifications, underlining the importance of further developing detailed ice property measurements using ground-based remote-sensing instruments to guide model improvements (Avramov and Harrington 2009). A follow-up experiment called the Indirect and Semi-direct Aerosol Campaign (ISDAC) was conducted in the spring of 2007, providing observations of polluted springtime Arctic conditions to contrast with the seasonally clean autumnal Arctic conditions observed during M-PACE.

Developing a new paradigm for using observations to improve climate models. The detailed and comprehensive measurements obtained at the ARM Facility sites are critical for model evaluation and improvement. ASR scientists developed a unique process to bridge the gap between observations and GCMs. In this process, a subset of ARM Facility observations are combined (Zhang et al. 2001) to provide input to a GCM, while other ARM Facility observations, such as cloud profiles, are used to evaluate the model's performance (Randall et al. 1996). This technique has led to specific improvements in GCMs, including the treatment of ice crystals in cirrus clouds (Liu et al. 2007).

Translating detailed atmosphere observations for climate modelers. Many ARM Facility instruments generate information that requires specialized skills to understand and apply. ARM Facility staff and collaborators in the research community are working together to take this complex information and generate simple physical parameters that are readily accessible by the climate modeling community. One recently developed product is the Cloud Modeling Best Estimate (CMBE), which combines a set of cloud observations from various ARM Facility instruments on a common grid (Xie et al. 2009). This product is expected to greatly facilitate the use of ARM Facility cloud data by climate modelers and has been adopted as a standard evaluation tool by the National Center for Atmospheric Research Community Atmosphere Model (CAM).

Developing a revolutionary new approach to climate modeling. Typically, GCMs are run at a very coarse resolution due to the time and cost required to produce simulations at a finer scale. This approach is particularly problematic for accurately simulating cloud processes, because they are so dynamic in both space and time. To improve model forecasts, ASR scientists developed the Multiscale Modeling Framework, which embeds finer resolution cloud models into the GCM, replacing the complex equations formerly used to represent clouds (Khairoutdinov et al. 2001, 2005; Randall et al. 2003; Ovtchinnikov et al. 2006). This breakthrough nested-model approach, specific



To address small-scale atmospheric processes, the Multi-scale Modeling Framework, or MMF, embeds a smaller cloud resolving model into each column of the larger global climate model.

to clouds, was shown to successfully transfer the small-scale variability of cloud properties into the largescale GCMs, and has made significant improvements in the representation of the seasonal and diurnal cycle (Khairoutdinov et al. 2008; Zhang et al. 2008). **Improved representation of deep convection in models.** GCMs have a difficult time simulating deep convection, especially over the tropics. Representation of cumulus convection is an essential part of the feedback mechanisms that modulate climate. Comparing convection schemes against observations is difficult, partly because convection parameterizations are formulated in terms of parameters that have not been adequately observed, and partly because the schemes lack information about parameters that are more directly observable.

The frequency of deep convection predicted by the NCAR single-column model (SCM) at field sites has been far greater than that observed (Klein and Del Genio 2006). A number of ARM field campaigns have been devoted to observing deep convection, and the resultant data have provided new insights into how deep convection behaves. By analyzing years of observational data from the ARM Data Archive, scientists were able to deduce a new convective trigger and closure parameterization, one that determines how much precipitation occurs in a given convective event (Xie and Zhang 2000; Xie et al. 2004). Noticeable improvements in climate forecasts resulted from the new parameterization. Zhang and Wang (2006) demonstrated that the new parameterization addresses the "double" Intertropical Convergence Zone problem. This modified convective trigger was implemented in the NCAR SCM (which is essentially an isolated column of a global climate model) and was shown to yield an improved simulation. The convective trigger has also been implemented into a Japanese global weather model (Xie and Zhang 2000).

Quantification of land-surface cloud feedbacks. In June 2007, the Cloud Land Surface Interaction Campaign (CLASIC) took place, centered on the SGP site. The primary focus of the study was to evaluate how land surface processes influence the evolution of cumulus convection, especially the stages leading from cumulus humilis (fair weather clouds) to cumulus congestus (storm clouds), and to ascertain the relative contribution that local water makes to regional precipitation, versus the contribution of water vapor advected into the region. Cumulus convection is an important component in the atmospheric radiation budget and hydrologic cycle, particularly in the Southern Great Plains during the summertime growing season. Land surface changes associated with plowing, crop rotation, and irrigation can induce changes in the surface latent heat flux, sensible heat flux, albedo, and carbon flux. Changes in surface energy balance and moisture transport to the boundary layer influence cloud processes, thus creating a feedback loop.

Sponsored by DOE in cooperation with other agencies and several universities, researchers used aircraft, satellite, and enhanced surface-based instrument platforms to obtain simultaneous ground and airborne data. Measurements included those related to important hydrologic components in land-atmosphere interactions: soil moisture (the storage reservoir), evapotranspiration (the moisture supply to the atmosphere), and precipitation (the moisture supply to the ground). During the campaign, an increasing and high amount of soil moisture over most of the CLASIC domain was observed, supporting the hypothesis of moisture recycling during CLASIC. Knowledge gained from this study is being applied to improved prediction tools that will benefit a broad spectrum of applications in agriculture ranging from more accurate weather forecasting to improved water management decisions and crop yield estimation.

Modeling regional surface energy, CO2, and isotope exchanges. Predicting surface-to-atmosphere fluxes of latent and sensible heat, shortwave and longwave radiation, and tracers (e.g., CO2) is critical to force and test atmospheric models. However, characterizing these exchanges in heterogeneous landscapes, such as the ARM-SGP site, is notoriously difficult. To address this issue, ASR researchers have developed a spatially explicit land-surface model (Riley et al. 2009) driven by regional-scale climate

data from the distributed Mesonet sampling stations and NEXRAD precipitation measurements. The model has recently been applied to estimate spatially and temporally explicit latent and sensible heat fluxes, characterize the SGP region as a net sink of CO2, and investigate the influence of spatial scaling of land-surface characteristics on regional flux predictions. The model has also been integrated with a mesoscale climate model (MM5) to study land-surface and atmospheric feedbacks associated with land-use (Cooley et al. 2005). These researchers have also shown that clouds, and resulting changes in humidity and the direct/diffuse fraction of solar radiation, can have large effects on surface tracer and energy exchanges (Still et al. 2009).

Stable isotopes in CO2 and H2O are important tracers of land-surface and atmospheric exchanges. ASR researchers have developed, tested, and applied a mechanistic land-surface model of 18O and 13C in CO2 and H2O (Aranibar et al. 2006, Lai et al. 2006, McDowell et al. 2008, Riley et al. 2002, Riley et al. 2003, Riley 2005, Still et al. 2009). They have used the model to improve our understanding of isotopic exchanges and our ability to use isotopes in testing land-surface models.

Developing a unified model for autoconversion rate in warm clouds. The autoconversion process is a key process that must be parameterized in atmospheric models of various scales—from large eddy simulation models to cloud resolving models to GCMs. In this process, large cloud droplets collect small ones and become "embryonic" raindrops. Accurate parameterization and physical understanding of this process is especially important for studies of the second aerosol indirect effect, when microphysical changes caused by the first aerosol indirect effect inhibit or slow down precipitation formation, and thereby increase the cloud liquid water path (LWP) and cloud lifetime. A new type of parameterization was developed by coupling the threshold function that describes the onset of the autoconversion process, with expressions for the rate function and critical radius (Liu et al. 2007). Comparison of the old and new parameterizations for increasing relative dispersion in a GCM study shows a stronger dispersion effect, which diminishes the global average first aerosol indirect effect by 42% versus 34% in the old scheme (Rotstayn and Liu, 2009).

Precipitation initiation in low mountainous regions. The Convective and Orographically Induced Precipitation Study (COPS) was conducted in the Black Forest region of Germany during 2007. The focus of the study was to advance the quality of forecasts of orographically induced convective precipitation through 4-dimensional observations and life-cycle modeling. COPS was conducted through an extensive collaboration between research institutions from eight countries (Wulfmeyer et al. 2008). The ARM Facility provided the ARM Mobile Facility (AMF) and its extensive array of instruments to obtain a previously unachieved data set on initiation of convection, as



The AMF in the Black Forest for COPS.

well as cloud and precipitation microphysical properties in a low-mountain region.

The data collected during COPS allowed a unique view of the complex atmospheric structure during the formation and development of thunderstorms (Kalthoff et al, 2009). Strong spatial inhomogeneities in the water vapor field (Kneifel et al, 2008) could be observed and validated by aircraft observations. Early results indicate deficiencies of mesoscale models in the simulation of convection initiation and the importance of convection permitting resolution of future operational weather forecast and regional climate models (Arpagaus et al. 2009; Trentmann et al., 2009). Data provided by the AMF during COPs

have been used to evaluate forecast models (Crewell et al. 2008), for data assimilation, and for process studies, particularly focusing on the microphysical properties of clouds. The data will further be analyzed to improve the prediction and quantification of precipitation for enhanced ability to forecast the likelihood of extreme weather events.

B.1 References

Ackerman, T, and G Stokes. 2003. "The Atmospheric Radiation Measurement Program." *Physics Today*, 56:38-45.

Ackerman, TP, DM Flynn, and RT Marchand. 2003. "Quantifying the magnitude of anomalous solar absorption." *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 108, doi:10.1029/2002JD002674.

Andrews, E, PJ Sheridan, JA Ogren, and RA Ferrare. 2004. "In situ aerosol profiles over the Southern Great Plains cloud and radiation testbed site: 1. Aerosol optical properties." *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 109, D06208, doi:10.1029/2003JD004025.

Aranibar, JN, JA Berry, WJ Riley, DE Pataki, BE Law, and JR Ehleringer. 2006. "Combining meteorology, eddy fluxes, isotope measurements, and modeling to understand environmental controls of carbon isotope discrimination at the canopy scale." *Global Change Biology*, 12, ISI:000236549600010, 710-730.

Arctic Climate Impact Assessment (ACIA). 2004. *Impacts of a Warming Arctic: Arctic Climate Impact Assessment*. Cambridge University Press, 1020 pp.

Arpagaus, M, and coauthors. 2009. "MAP D-PHASE: Demonstrating forecast capabilities for flood events in the Alpine region." *Publication MeteoSchweiz* 78, 75 pp. Report to the World Weather Research Programme of the WMO.

Avramov, A, and JY Harrington. 2009. "The influence of parameterized ice habit on simulated mixed-phase Arctic clouds." *Journal of Geophysical Research*, doi:10.1029/2009JD012108.

Berg, L, and coauthors. 2009. "Overview of the cumulus humilis aerosol processing study." *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 90(11), 1653–1667, doi:10.1175/2009BAMS2760.1.

Chapman, EG, WI Gustafson, RC Easter, JC Barnard, SJ Ghan, MS Pekour, and JD Fast. 2008. "Coupling aerosol-cloud-radiative processes in the WRF-Chem model: Investigating the radiative impact of elevated point sources." *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics Discussion*, 8, 14765-14817.

Clothiaux, EE, TP Ackerman, GG Mace, KP Moran, RT Marchand, M Miller, and BE Martner. 2000. "Objective determination of cloud heights and radar reflectivities using a combination of active remote sensors at the ARM CART sites." *Journal of Applied Meteorology*, 39, 645-665.

Clough, SA, FX Kneizys, and RW Davies. 1989. "Line shape and the water vapor continuum." *Atmospheric Research*, 23:229-241.

Comstock, JM, TP Ackerman, and DD Turner. 2004. "Evidence of high ice supersaturation in cirrus clouds using ARM Raman lidar measurements." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 31, doi:10.1029/2004GL019705.

Cooley, HS, WJ Riley, MS Torn, and Y He. 2005. "Impact of agricultural practice on regional climate in a coupled land surface mesoscale model." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 110, ISI:000227065800002, D03113.

Crewell, S, M Mech, T Reinhardt, C Selbach, H-D Betz, E Brocard, G Dick, E O'Connor, J Fischer, T Hanisch, T Hauf, A Hünerbein, L Delobbe, A Mathes, G Peters, H Wernli, and V Wulfmeyer. 2008. "General Observation Period 2007: Concept and first results." *Meteorologische Zeitschrift*, 17, 849-866.

Delamere, JS, SA Clough, VH Payne, EJ Mlawer, DD Turner, and R Gamache. 2009. "A far-infrared radiative closure study in the Arctic: Application to water vapor." *Journal of Geophysical Research*, submitted.

Fan J, M Ovtchinnikov, JM Comstock, SA McFarlane, and A Khain. 2009. "Ice formation in Arctic mixed-phase clouds: Insights from a 3-D cloud-resolving model with size-resolved aerosol and cloud microphysics." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 114(D04205), doi:10.1029/2008JD010782.

Feingold, G, WL Eberhard, DE Veron, and M Previdi. 2003. "First measurements of the Twomey indirect effect using ground-based remote sensors." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 30, 1287, doi:10.1029/2002GL016633.

Feingold, G, R Furrer, P Pilewskie, L Remer, Q Min, and H Jonsson. 2006. "Aerosol indirect effect studies at Southern Great Plains during the May 2003 Intensive Operations Period." *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 111, doi:10.1029/2004JD005648.

Ferrare, RA and coauthors. 2004. "Characterization of upper tropospheric water vapor measurements during AFWEX using LASE." *Journal of Atmospheric and Oceanic Technology*, 21, 1790-1808.

Ferrare, R, G Feingold, S Ghan, J Ogren, B Schmid, SE Schwartz, and P Sheridan. 2006. "Preface to special section: Atmospheric Radiation Measurement Program May 2003 Intensive Operations Period examining aerosol properties and radiative influences." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 111, D05S01, doi:10.1029/2005JD006908.

Fridlind, AM, AS Ackerman, G McFarquhar, G Zhang, MR Poellot, PJ DeMott, AJ Prenni, and AJ Heymsfield. 2007. "Ice properties of single-layer stratocumulus during the Mixed-Phase Arctic Cloud Experiment: 2. Model results." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 112, D24202, doi:10.1029/2007JD008646.

Ghan, SJ, and coauthors. 2006. "Use of in situ cloud condensation nuclei, extinction, and aerosol size distribution measurements to test a method for retrieving cloud condensation nuclei profiles from surface measurements." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 111, D05S10, doi:10.1029/2004JD005752.

Henze, DK, and JH Seinfeld. 2006. "Global secondary organic aerosol formation from isoprene oxidation." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 33, L09812, doi:10.1029/2006GL025976.

Iacono, MJ, EJ Mlawer, SA Clough, and J-J Morcrette. 2000. "Impact of an improved longwave radiation model, RRTM, on the energy budget and thermodynamic properties of the NCAR community climate model, CCM3." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 105, 14873-14890.

Iacono, MJ, JS Delamere, EJ Mlawer, and SA Clough. 2003. "Evaluation of upper tropospheric water vapor in the NCAR Community Climate Model (CCM3) using modeled and observed HIRS radiances." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 108, doi:10.1029/2002JD002539.

Illingworth, AJ, RJ Hogan, EJ O'Connor, D Bouniol, ME Brooks, J Delanoë, DP Donovan, JD Eastment, N Gaussiat, JWF. Goddard, M Haeffelin, HK Baltink, OA Krasnov, J Pelon, JM Piriou, A Protat, HWJ Russchenberg, A Seifert, AM Tompkins, GJ van Zadelhoff, F Vinit, U Willén, DR Wilson, and CL Wrench. 2007. "Cloudnet." *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 88, 883–898.

Kalthoff, K, B Adler, C Barthlott, U Corsmeier, S Mobbs, S Crewell, K Traumner, C Kottmeier, A Wieser, and V Smith. 2009. "The impact of convergence zones on the initiation of deep convection: A case study from COPS." *Journal of Atmospheric Research*, 93(4), 680-694, doi:10.1016/j.atmosres.2009.02.010.

Khairoutdinov, MF, and DA Randall. 2001. "A cloud resolving model as a cloud parameterization in the NCAR community climate system model: Preliminary results." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 28, 3617-3620.

Khairoutdinov, M, D Randall, and C DeMott. 2005. "Simulations of the atmospheric general circulation using a cloud-resolving model as a superparameterization of physical processes." *Journal of the Atmospheric Sciences*, 62, 2136-2154.

Khairoutdinov, M, C DeMott, and D Randall. 2008. "Evaluation of the simulated interannual and subseasonal variability in an AMIPsStyle simulation using the CSU multiscale modeling framework." *Journal of Climate*, 21(3), doi:10.1175/2007JCLI1630.1.

Kim, B-G., MA Miller, SE Schwartz, Y Liu, and Q Min. 2008. "The role of adiabaticity in the first aerosol indirect effect." *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 113, doi:10.1029/2007JD008961.

Klein, SA, and AD Del Genio. 2006. ARM's Support for GCM Improvement: A White Paper. U.S. Department of Energy. DOE/SC-ARM/P-06-012, Washington, D.C.

Klein, SA, and coauthors. 2009: "Intercomparison of model simulations of mixed-phase clouds observed during the ARM Mixed-Phase Arctic Cloud Experiment. Part I: Single-layer cloud." *Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society*, 641, 979-1002, doi:10.1002/qj.416.

Kleinman, LI, Daum, PH, Lee, Y-N, Senum, GI, Springston, SR, Wang, J, Berkowitz, C, Hubbe, J, Zaveri, RA, Brechtel, FJ, Jayne, J, Onasch, TB, and Worsnop, D. 2007. "Aircraft observations of aerosol composition and ageing in New England and Mid-Atlantic States during the summer 2002 New England Air Quality Study field campaign." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 112, D09310, doi:10.1029/2006JD007786.

Kleinman, LI, Springston, SR, Daum, PH, Lee, YN, Nunnermacker, LJ, Senum, GI, Wang, J, Weinstein-Lloyd, J, Alexander, ML, Hubbe, J, Ortega, J, Canagaratna, MR, and Jayne, J. 2008. "The time evolution of aerosol composition over the Mexico City plateau." *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 8, 1559-1575.

Kneifel, S, S Crewell, U Löhnert, and J Schween. 2008. "Investigating water vapor variability by groundbased microwave radiometry: evaluation using airborne observations." *IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters*, 6(1), 157-161, doi:10.1109/LGRS.2008.2007659.

Kollias, P, EE Clothiaux, MA Miller, BA Albrecht, GL Stephens, and TP Ackerman. 2007. "Millimeterwavelength radars: New frontier in atmospheric cloud and precipitation research." *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 88, 1608–1624.

Lai, CT, W Riley, C Owensby, J Ham, A Schauer, and JR Ehleringer. 2006. "Seasonal and interannual variations of carbon and oxygen isotopes of respired CO2 in a tallgrass prairie: Measurements and modeling results from 3 years with contrasting water availability." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 111, ISI:000236730800003.

Lee, SS, JE Penner, and SM Saleeby. 2009. "Aerosol effects on liquid-water path of thin stratocumulus clouds." *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 114, D07204, 10.1029/2008JD010513.

Liu, X, J Penner, S Ghan, and M Wang. 2007. "Inclusion of ice microphysics in the NCAR Community Atmospheric Model Version 3 (CAM3)." *Journal of Climate*, 20, 4526-4547, doi:10.1175/JCLI4264.1.

Lu, M-L, G Feingold, HH Jonsson, PY Chuang, H Gates, RC Flagan, and JH Seinfeld. 2007. "Aerosolcloud relationships in continental shallow cumulus." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 113, D15201, doi:10.1029/2007JD009354.

Lubin, D, and A Vogelmann. 2006. "A climatologically significant aerosol longwave indirect effect in the Arctic." *Nature*, 439(7075):453-456, doi:10.1038/nature04449.

Mace, GG, and S Benson. 2008. "The vertical structure of cloud occurrence and radiative forcing at the SGP ARM site as revealed by 8 years of continuous data." *Journal of Climate*, 21, 2591–2610.

Mace, GG, S Benson, and S Kato. 2006. "Cloud radiative forcing at the Atmospheric Radiation Measurement Program Climate Research Facility: 2. Vertical redistribution of radiant energy by clouds." *Journal of Geophysical Research D: Atmospheres*, 111(D11), D11S91, doi:10.1029/2005JD005922.

Mace, GG, AJ Heymsfield, and MR Poellot. 2002. "On retrieving the microphysical properties of cirrus clouds using moments of the millimeter-wavelength doppler spectrum." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 107: doi:10.1029/2001JD001308.

Mather, JH, SA McFarlane, MA Miller, and KL Johnson. 2007. "Cloud properties and associated radiative heating rates in the Tropical Western Pacific." *Journal of Geophysical Research D: Atmospheres*, 112(D5), D05201.

Mather, JH, and SA McFarlane. 2009. "Cloud classes and radiative heating profiles at the Manus and Nauru Atmospheric Radiation Measurement (ARM) sites." *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 114, D19204, doi:10.1029/2009JD011703.

May, PT, JH Mather, G Vaughan, C Jakob, GM McFarquhar, KN Bower, and GG Mace. 2008. "The Tropical Warm Pool International Cloud Experiment." *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, doi:10.1175/BAMS-89-5-629: 629-645.

McComiskey A, SE Schwartz, B Schmid, H Guan, ER Lewis, P Ricchiazzi, and JA Ogren. 2008. "Direct aerosol forcing: Calculation from observables and sensitivities to inputs." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 113, doi:10.1029/2007JD009170.

McComiskey, A, G Feingold, AS Frisch, DD Turner, M Miller, JC Chiu, Q Min, and J Ogren. 2009. "An assessment of aerosol-cloud interactions in marine stratus clouds based on surface remote sensing." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 114, D09203, doi:10.1029/2008JD011006.

McDowell, N, D Baldocchi, M Barbour, C Bickford, M Cuntz, D Hanson, A Knohl, H Powers, T Rahn, J Randerson, W Riley, C Still, K Tu, and A Walcroft. 2008. "Measuring and modeling the stable isotope composition of biosphere atmosphere CO2 exchange: Where are we and where are we going?" *Eos, Transactions, American Geophysical Union*, in press.

McFarlane, SA, JH Mather, and TP Ackerman. 2007. "Analysis of tropical radiative heating profiles: A comparison of models and observations." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 112.

McFarlane, SA, EI Kassianov, J Barnard, C Flynn, and T Ackerman. 2009. "Surface shortwave aerosol forcing during the ARM Mobile Facility deployment in Niamey, Niger." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 114, doi:10.1029/2008JD010491.

McFarquhar, GM, and SG Cober. 2004. "Single-Scattering Properties of Mixed-Phase Arctic Clouds at Solar Wavelengths: Impacts on Radiative Transfer." *Journal of Climate*, 17, 3799-3813.

McFarquhar, GM, G Zhang, MR Poellot, GL Kok, R McCoy, T Tooman, and AJ Heymsfield. 2007. "Ice properties of single layer stratocumulus during the Mixed-Phase Arctic Cloud Experiment (MPACE). Part I: Observations." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 112, D24202, doi:10.1029/2007JD008646.

Michalsky JJ, GP Anderson, J Barnard, J Delamere, C Gueymard, S Kato, P Kiedron, A McComiskey, and P Ricchiazzi. 2006. "Shortwave radiative closure studies for clear skies during the Atmospheric Radiation Measurement 2003 Aerosol Intensive Observation Period." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 111, D14S90, doi:10.1029/2005JG006341.

Michalsky JJ, C Gueymard, P Kiedron, L MacArthur, R Philipona, and T Stoffel. 2007. "A proposed working standard for the measurement of diffuse horizontal shortwave irradiance." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 112, doi:10.1029/2007JD008651.

Miller, MA, and A Slingo. 2007. "The ARM mobile facility and its first international deployment. Measuring radiative flux divergence in West Africa." *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 1229-1244.
Miller, RL, A Slingo, JC Barnard, and E Kassianov. 2009a. "Seasonal contrast in the surface energy balance of the Sahel." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 114, doi:10.1029/2008JD100521.

Miller, Y, JL Thomas, DD Kemp, BJ Finlayson-Pitts, MS Gordon, DJ Tobias, and RB Gerber. 2009b. "Structure of large nitrate-water clusters at ambient temperatures: simulations with effective fragment potentials and with force fields and implications for atmospheric chemistry." *Journal of Physical Chemistry*, accepted.

Mlawer, EJ, SJ Taubman, PD Brown, MJ Iacono, and SA Clough. 1997. "Radiative transfer for inhomogeneous atmospheres: RRTM, a validated correlated-k model for the longwave." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 102, 16663-16682.

Mlawer, EJ, SA Clough, PD Brown, TM Stephen, JC Landry, A Goldman, and FJ Murcray. 1998. "Observed Atmospheric Collision-induced Absorption in Near-infrared Oxygen Bands." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 103, 3859.

Molina, LT, S Madronich, JS Gaffney, and HB Singh. 2008. "Overview of the MILAGRO/INTEX-B campaign." IGAC Newsletter, No. 38, International Global Atmospheric Chemistry Project, Taipei, Taiwan, 2-15.

Morcrette, JJ, H Barker, J Cole, M Iacono, and R Pincus. 2008. "Impact of a new radiation package, McRad, in the ECMWF Integrated Forecasting System." *Monthly Weather Review*, 136, 4773-4798.

Morrison, H, JO Pinto, JA Curry, GM McFarquhar. 2008. "Sensitivity of modeled arctic mixed-phase stratocumulus to cloud condensation and ice nuclei over regionally-varying surface conditions." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 113, D05203, doi:10.1029/2007JD008729.

Morrison, H, and coauthors. 2009. "Intercomparison of model simulations of mixed-phase clouds observed during the ARM Mixed-Phase Arctic Cloud Experiment. II: Multilayer cloud." *Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society*, 135, 1003-1019, doi:10.1002/qj.415.

Ovtchinnikov, M, T Ackerman, R Marchand, and M Khairoutdinov. 2006. "Evaluation of the multiscale modeling framework using data from the Atmospheric Radiation Measurement Program." *Journal of Climate*, 19(9), 1716-1729.

Paulot, F, JD Crounse, HG Kjaergaard, A Kurten, JM St. Clair, JH Seinfeld, and PO Wennberg. 2009. "Unexpected epoxide formation in the gas-phase photooxidation of isoprene." *Science*, 325, 730-733.

Payne, VH, JS Delamere, KE Cady-Pereira, RR Gamache, J-L Moncet, EJ Mlawer, and SA Clough. 2008. "Air-broadened half-widths of the 22- and 183-GHz water-vapor lines." *IEEE Transactions of Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, 46, 3601-3617.

Pincus, R, HW Barker, and JJ Morcrette. 2003. "A fast, flexible, approximate technique for computing radiative transfer in inhomogeneous cloud fields." *Journal of Geophysical Research D: Atmospheres*, 108(D13), 4376.

Pincus, R, R Hemler, and SA Klein. 2006. "Using stochastically generated subcolumns to represent cloud structure in a large-scale model." *Monthly Weather Review*, 134, 3644-3656.

Prenni, AJ, JY Harrington, M Tjernstrom, PJ DeMott, A Avramov, CN Long, SM Kreidenweis, PQ Olsson, and J Verlinde. 2006. "Can ice-nucleating aerosols affect arctic seasonal climate?" *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 88, 541-550.

Räisänen, P, HW Barker, and JNS Cole. 2005. "The Monte Carlo independent column approximation's conditional random noise: Impact on simulated climate." *Journal of Climate*, 18(22), 4715-4730.

Räisänen, P, S Järvenoja, H Järvinen, M Giorgetta, E Roeckner, K Jylhä, and K Ruosteenoja. 2007. "Tests of Monte Carlo independent column approximation in the ECHAM5 atmospheric GCM." *Journal of Climate*, 20(19), 4995-5011.

Randall, D, M Khairoutdinov, A Arakawa, and W Grabowski. 2003. "Breaking the cloud parameterization deadlock." *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 84(11), 1547-1564.

Revercomb, HE, DD Turner, DC Tobin, RO Knuteson, WF Feltz, J Barnard, J Bösenberg, S Clough, D Cook, R Ferrare, J Goldsmith, S Gutman, R Halthore, B Lesht, J Liljegren, H Linné, J Michalsky, V Morris, W Porch, S Richardson, B Schmid, M Splitt, T Van Hove, E Westwater, and D Whiteman. 2003. "The ARM Program's water vapor intensive observation periods: Overview, initial accomplishments, and future challenges." *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 84(2), 217-236.

Riley, W, C Still, M Torn, and J Berry. 2002. "A mechanistic model of H218O and C18OO fluxes between ecosystems and the atmosphere: Model description and sensitivity analyses." *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 16(4), 1095-1109.

Riley, WJ, CJ Still, BR Helliker, M Ribas-Carbo, and JA Berry. 2003. "O-18 composition of CO2 and H2O ecosystem pools and fluxes in a tallgrass prairie: Simulations and comparisons to measurements. *Global Change Biology*, 9, ISI:000186387400005, 1567-1581.

Riley, WJ. 2005. "A modeling study of the impact of the delta O-18 value of near-surface soil water on the delta O-18 value of the soil-surface CO2 flux." *Geochimica Et Cosmochimica Acta*, 69, ISI:000228682000003, 1939-1946.

Riley, WJ, SC Biraud, MS Torn, ML Fischer, JA Berry, and D Billesbach. 2009. "Regional CO2 and latent heat surface fluxes in the Southern Great Plains: Measurements, modeling, and scaling." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Biogeosciences*, in press.

Rotstayn and Liu. 2009. "Cloud droplet spectral dispersion and the indirect aerosol effect: Comparison of two treatments in a GCM." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 36, L10801, doi:10.1029/2009GL038216.

Shupe MD, P Kollias, POG Person, and GM McFarquhar. 2008. "Vertical motions in Arctic mixed-phase stratiform clouds." *Journal of the Atmospheric Sciences*, 65, 1304 – 1322.

Slingo, A, TP Ackerman, RP Allan, EI Kassianov, SA McFarlane, GJ Robinson, JC Barnard, MA Miller, JE Harries, JE Russell, and S Dewitte. 2006. "Observations of the impact of a major Saharan dust storm on the atmospheric radiation balance." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 33(24), L24817, doi:10.1029/2006GL027869.

Slingo, A, NA Bharmal, GJ Robinson, JJ Settle, RP Allan, HE White, PJ Lamb, MA Lele, DD Turner, S McFarlane, E Kassianov, J Barnard, C Flynn, and M Miller. 2008. "Overview of observations from the RADAGAST experiment in Niamey, Niger. Part 1: Meteorology and thermodynamic variables." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 113, doi:10.1029/2008JD009909.

Slingo, A, HE White, NA Bharmal, and GJ Robinson. 2009. "Overview of observations from the RADAGAST experiment in Niamey, Niger. Part 2: Radiative fluxes and divergences." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 114, doi:10.1029/2008JD010497.

Smith, JN, MJ Dunn, TM VanReken, K Iida, MR Stolzenburg, PH McMurry, and LG Huey. 2008. "Chemical composition of atmospheric nanoparticles formed from nucleation in Tecamac, Mexico: Evidence for an important role for organic species in nanoparticle growth." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 35, L04808, doi:10.1029/2007GL032523.

Soden, BJ, DD Turner, BM Lesht, and LM Miloshevich. 2004. "An analysis of satellite, radiosonde, and lidar observations of upper tropospheric water vapor from the Atmospheric Radiation Measurement Program." *Journal of Geophysical Research D: Atmospheres*, 109(D4), D04105.

Song, C, RA Zaveri, ML Alexander, JA Thornton, S Madronich, JV Ortega, A Zelenyuk, X-Y Yu, A Laskin, and DA Maughan. 2007. "Effect of hydrophobic primary organic aerosols on secondary organic aerosol formation from ozonolysis of a-pinene." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 34, L20803, doi:10.1029/2007GL030720.

Still, CJ, WJ Riley, SC Biraud, DC Noone, NH Buenning, JT Randerson, MS Torn, J Welker, JWC White, R Vachon, GD Farquhar, and JA Berry. 2009. "Influence of clouds and diffuse radiation on ecosystem-atmosphere CO2 and (COO)-O-18 exchanges." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Biogeosciences*, 114, ISI:000263950400001.

Trentmann, J, C Keil, M Salzmann, C Barthlott, H-S Bauer, T Schwitalla, MG Lawrence, D Leuenberger, V Wulfmeyer, U Corsmeier, C Kottmeier, H Wernli. 2009. "Multi-model simulations of a convective situation in low-mountain terrain in central Europe." *Meteorology and Atmospheric Physics*, 103, 95–103, doi:10.1007/s00703-008-0323-6.

Turner, DD, BM Lesht, SA Clough, JC Liljegren, HE Revercomb, and DC Tobin. 2003. "Dry bias and variability in Vaisala RS80-H radiosondes: The ARM experience." *Journal of Atmospheric and Oceanic Technologies*, 20(1), 117-132.

Turner, DD, DC Tobin, SA Clough, PD Brown, RG Ellingson, EJ Mlawer, RO Knuteson, HE Revercomb, TR Shippert, WL Smith, and MW Shephard. 2004. "The QME AERI LBLRTM: A closure experiment for downwelling high spectral resolution infrared radiance." *Journal of the Atmospheric Sciences*, 61(22), 2657-2675.

Turner, DD, and coauthors. 2007. "Thin liquid water clouds: their importance and our challenge." *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 88, 177-190.

Turner, DD 2008. "Ground-based retrievals of optical depth, effective radius, and composition of airborne mineral dust above the Sahel." *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 113, doi:10.1029/2008JD010054.

Turner, DD, and EJ Mlawer. 2009. "Radiative heating in underexplored bands campaigns (RHUBC)." *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, submitted.

Um, J, and GM McFarquhar. 2009. "Single-scattering properties of aggregates of plates." Quarterly *Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society*, 135, 291-304, doi:10.1002/qj.378.

Valero, FPJ, SK Pope, BC Bush, Q Nguyen, D Marsden, RD Cess, AS Simpson-Leitner, A Bucholtz, and PM Udelhofen. 2003. "Absorption of solar radiation by the clear and cloudy atmosphere during the Atmospheric Radiation Measurement Enhanced Shortwave Experiments (ARESE) I and II: Observations and models." *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 108, doi:10.1029/2001JD001384.

Verlinde, J, JY Harrington, GM McFarquhar, VT Yannuzzi, A Avramov, S Greenberg, N Johnson, G Zhang, MR Poellot, JH Mather, DD Turner, EW Eloranta, BD Zak, AJ Prenni, JS Danier, GL Kok, DC Tobin, R Holz, K Sassen, D Spangenberg, P Minnis, TP Tooman, MD Ivey, SJ Richardson, CP Bahrmann, M Shupe, PJ DeMott, AJ Heymsfield, and R Schofield. 2007. "The Mixed-Phase Arctic Cloud Experiment (M-PACE), *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 88(2), 205-221.

Wang, J, Y-N Lee, PH Daum, J Jayne, and ML Alexander. 2008. "Effects of aerosol organics on cloud condensation nucleus (CCN) concentration and first indirect aerosol effect." *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 8, 6325-6339.

Wulfmeyer, V, and coauthors. 2008. "The convective and orographically-induced precipitation study: A research and development project of the World Weather Research Program for improving quantitative precipitation forecasting in low-mountain regions." *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 89, 1477-1486.

Xie, S, M Zhang, JS Boyle, RT Cederwall, GL Potter, and W Lin. 2004, "Impact of a revised convective triggering mechanism on Community Atmosphere Model Version 2 simulations: Results from short-range weather forecasts." *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 109, D14102, doi:10.1029/2004JD004692.

Xie, S, and M Zhang. 2000. "Impact of the convection triggering function on single column model simulations." *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 105, 14983-14996, doi:10.1029/2000JD900170.

Xie, S, and coauthors. 2009. "ARM climate modeling best-estimate data." *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, in press.

Yu, Y, MJ Ezell, A Zelenyuk, D Imre, ML Alexander, J Ortega, B D'Anna, CW Harmon, SN Johnson, and BJ Finlayson-Pitts. 2008a. "Photooxidation of α -pinene at high relative humidity in the presence of increasing concentrations of NOx." *Atmospheric Environment*, 42, 5044.

Yu, Y, MJ Ezell, A Zelenyuk, D Imre, ML Alexander, J Ortega, JJ Thomas, K Gogna, DJ Tobias, B D'Anna, CW Harmon, SN Johnson, and BJ Finlayson-Pitts. 2008b. "Nitrate ion photochemistry at interfaces: A new mechanism for oxidation of α -pinene." *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, 10, 3063.

Zaveri, RA, RC Easter, JD Fast, and LK Peters. 2008. "Model for simulating aerosol interactions and chemistry (MOSAIC)." *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 113, D13204, doi:10.1029/2007JD008782.

Zelenyuk, A, MJ Ezell, V Perraud, S Johnson, E Bruns, Y Yu, D Imre, ML Alexander, and BJ Finlayson-Pitts. 2009. "Characterization of organic coatings on hygroscopic salt particles and their atmospheric impacts." *Atmospheric Environment*, submitted.

Zhang, GJ, and H Wang. 2006. "Toward mitigating the double ITCZ problem in the NCAR CCSM3." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 33, L06709.

Zhang MH, JL Lin, RT Cederwall, JJ Yio, and SC Xie. 2001. "Objective analysis of the ARM IOP data: method and sensitivity." *Monthly Weather Review*, 129, 295-311.

Zhang Q, and coauthors. 2007. "Ubiquity and dominance of oxygenated species in organic aerosols in anthropogenically-influenced Northern Hemisphere mid-latitudes." *Geophysical Research Letters*, 34, L13801, doi:10.1029/2007GL029979.

Zhang Y, SA Klein, C Liu, B Tian, RT Marchand, JM Haynes, RB McCoy, and TP Ackerman. 2008. "On the diurnal cycle of deep convection, high-level cloud, and upper troposphere water vapor in the Multiscale Modeling Framework." *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 113, doi:10.1029/2008JD009905.